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Chairman’s letter

We keep growing and improving our profitability. 
Already gratifying in themselves, our results pres-
age, in addition to that, interesting prospects of 
future growth. The intensive internationalization 
process we began ten years ago, the efforts on new 
product lines that complement our initial core busi-
ness, close attention to technologically innovative 
sectors through greater commitment to research 
are all parts of the active role Carraro is playing 
in the process of change with its plans to increase 
dimension and carry the Group into a wider band 
of market segments at higher and higher levels of 
competitiveness.

Balance sheet data from 2006 – a year we con-
sider a fresh start – amply demonstrate the trend. 
Total sales reached 667.183 million Euro (+8.16% 
from 2006) for a 10.535 million Euro net profit over 
40% higher than the previous year’s value. Improve-
ment is also confirmed by standard indicators: ebit 
rose from 3.48 to 4.50%, ebitda from 6.75 to 7.73%, 
and cash-flow increased to 32.080 from 27.499 mil-
lion Euros in 2006. Good results, despite the delays 
in our plans for Germany and Poland and the less 
than brilliant performance in the first part of the 
year. On the other hand, the positive influence of 
Elettronica Santerno, a new acquisition that has 
bolstered the consolidated balance sheet since the 
second semester must not be ignored. In short, the 
year’s result was good and raises expectations for 
the even further improvement confirmed by the first 
figures from 2007.

I mentioned the past decade as the one of interna-
tionalization, the years that brought our workforce 
from 0 to over 40% abroad. We knew this course of 
development would present obstacles and never be 
easy, but in the end the operation oriented entirely 

to the future was rewarded. These were also years 
of profound industrial transformation in which pro-
ductive dynamics gave due consideration to cost 
control while taking on innovative diversification 
projects. One figure alone states the case: in 1996, 
4RM axle production accounted for more than 90% 
of our total sales, but although production levels 
are now even higher today, that share of our turn-
over amounts to less than 50% with a much more 
varied range of application and greater technologi-
cal content as well. The agricultural and industrial 
vehicle transmission sector has grown at the same 
time, thanks also to the continuously increasing 
contribution made by electronics. The same ap-
plies to the Drives and Vehicles business which has 
clearly benefited from the synergies enabled by the 
acquisition  of Santerno already so rich in potential 
for expansion in its own right in the fields of photo-
voltaic technology and renewable energy, from wind 
to hybrid power sources. Alongside, the production 
of gears, less and less absorbed by the Group’s own 
needs, is characterized by the progressive achieve-
ment of other high-level clients, thus heading for a 
more autonomous management concept.

The evolution described above is supported by 
an advanced industrial organization required to in-
still greater interactivity between Carraro produc-
tive units around the world in a policy of productive 
diversification based on higher and higher techno-
logical standards. This policy assigns an increasingly 
more decisive role to research, in which particular 
resources have been concentrated in recent years 
for the formation of an engineering division dis-
tinguished by excellence that links centers in Italy 
with our resources in Germany and Argentina. Also 
worthy of special mention is the establishment in 
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Pune, India, of Carraro Technologies, where around 40 engineers are now hard at 
work in confirmation of the Group’s commitment to innovation that represents such 
an essential element of the Group’s philosophy.

We know that we are living in an era of great change; we are firmly convinced, 
however, that we have all the cards in hand to continue growing. We envision a pe-
riod of expansion for all our lines without excluding further acquisitions or alliances 
in a new dimension that may assume strategic importance for our competitive lead-
ership in markets on all five continents by now. Although our plans are not lacking 
in complexity, we know that we can rely on a managerial structure of the highest 
order inserted in a corporate governance where, beyond the necessary chain of com-
mands, a dialectical sharing of responsibility is set as a priority with the co-involve-
ment of the wide range of our resources at every level (and now at every latitude). 
In this spirit, there is no doubt that we will be able to face even the most demanding 
challenges with optimism.

MARIO CARRARO
Chairman
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CARRARO SPA 2006 2005

Net revenues 444.105 433.099

EBIT (adjusted due to exchange differences) 11.557 11.174

Net result 8.471 12.179

Shareholders’ equity 82.168 78.745

Cash flow 16.829 20.623

ROE (Net income/Shareholders’ equity) 11.49% 18.30%

ROI (EBIT/Invested capital) 3.59% 3.29%

Workforce numbers as of 31 Dec. 1.046 1.038

Research & development expenditure/Sales revenues 2.78% 2.70%

Gross investments 11.336 8.313

CONSOLIDATED 2006 2005

Net revenues 667.183 616.850

EBIT (adjusted due to exchange differences) 30.044 21.495

Net result (net of minority interests) 10.534 21.029

Shareholders’ equity (net of minority interests) 115.256 113.895

Cash flow 32.080 41.123

ROE (Net income/Shareholders’ equity) 10.06% 22.64%

ROI (EBIT/Invested capital) 5.59% 4.08%

Workforce numbers as of 31 Dec. 2.857 2.524

Research & development expenditure/Sales revenues 2.08% 2.07%

Gross investments 35.150 34.294

Highlights
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Carraro Spa financial statements’ charts
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Consolidated financial statements’ charts
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Income statement and balance sheet figures
by sector of activities

Ba
la

nc
es

 in
 E

ur
o/

1.
0

0
0

s

INCOME STATEMENT FIGURES
CARRARO SPA

CARRARO SPA Drivelines & Drives Vehicles Total 

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Sales 362.340 365.288 81.765 67.801 444.105 433.099

Sales to third parties 351.110 353.746 81.645 67.594 432.755 421.340

Sales within divisions – – –

Sales between divisions 11.230 11.552 120 207 11.350 11.759
    
Operating costs 353.979 353.610 78.569 68.315 432.548 421.925

Direct/indirect materials 258.578 252.664 61.715 55.638 320.293 308.302

Services and use
of third party assets

43.905 49.488 6.972 5.633 50.877 55.121

Headcount 38.863 38.173 8.667 6.346 47.530 44.519

Amortization/depreciation 8.269 8.425 88 20 8.357 8.445

Provisions for risks 3.880 4.713 1.177 651 5.057 5.364

Other income and expense 484 147 – 50 27 434 174

Operating result (Ebit) 8.361 11.688 3.196 -514 11.557 11.174

CONSOLIDATED

CONSOLIDATED
2006

Drivelines
& Drives 

Components Vehicles Power
controls

Eliminations and 
unallocated activities

Total 

Sales 547.138 95.128 81.765 11.426 – 68.274 667.183

Sales to third parties 538.627 35.485 81.645 11.426 – 667.183

Sales within divisions – – – – – –

Sales between divisions 8.511 59.643 120 - – 68.274 –

Operating costs 531.319 88.142 75.873 9.550 – 67.745 637.139

Direct/indirect materials 373.889 40.846 58.875 6.413 – 68.360 411.662

Services and use
of third party assets

82.501 25.912 7.152 1.482 616 117.662

Headcount 61.409 14.956 8.745 1.562 86 86.757

Amortization/depreciation 14.861 6.915 89 83 – 163 21.785

Provisions for risks 4.574 – 1.177 7 – 5.759

Other income and expense – 5.915 – 486 – 164 3 76 – 6.486

Operating result (Ebit) 15.819 6.986 5.892 1.876 – 529 30.044

Net result from activities 
undergoing disposal

– – – – – -
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CONSOLIDATED
2005

Drivelines
& Drives 

Components Vehicles Power
controls

Eliminations and 
unallocated activities

Total 

Sales 529.927 80.495 68.634 – – 62.206 616.850

Sales to third parties 519.470 29.786 67.594 – – 616.850

Sales within divisions – – – – – –

Sales between divisions 10.457 50.709 1.040 – – 62.206 –

Operating costs 512.093 75.276 69.148 – – 61.162 595.355

Direct/indirect materials 362.511 36.942 56.370 – – 65.718 390.105

Services and use
of third party assets

78.574 19.768 5.703 – – 118 103.927

Headcount 59.660 13.156 6.414 – – 74 79.156

Amortization/depreciation 14.265 5.378 19 – 618 20.280

Provisions for risks 5.085 168 650 – – 5.903

Other income and expense – 8.002 – 136 – 8 – 4.130 – 4.015

Operating result (Ebit) 17.834 5.219 – 514 – – 1.044 21.495

Net result from activities 
undergoing disposal

– – – – – –

BALANCE SHEET FIGURES
CARRARO SPA

CARRARO SPA Drivelines & Drives Vehicles Total 

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Non-current assets 147.164 113.411 1.743 864 148.907 114.275

Currents assets 140.454 199.681 32.188 26.116 172.642 225.797

Non-current liabilities 13.783 12.665 2.217 2.760 16.000 15.425

Current liabilities 192.580 221.083 30.802 24.819 223.382 245.902

CONSOLIDATED

CONSOLIDATED
2006

Drivelines & 
Drives

Components Vehicles Power controls Eliminations and 
unallocated activities

Total 

Non-current assets 198.025 66.457 1.743 3.911 – 56.695 213.441

Currents assets 280.553 65.278 32.188 13.109 – 66.847 324.281

Non-current liabilities 34.645 16.413 2.217 1.284 62.348 116.907

Current liabilities 314.197 67.302 30.801 12.233 – 122.887 301.647

CONSOLIDATED
2005

Drivelines & 
Drives

Components Vehicles Power controls Eliminations and 
unallocated activities

Total

Non-current assets 187.084 53.421 864 – – 60.950 180.419

Currents assets 406.033 52.309 26.116 – – 138.349 346.109

Non-current liabilities 28.932 9.220 2.760 – – 40.912

Current liabilities 421.886 59.981 24.819 – – 137.169 369.517
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Report on Operations
Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2006

With the end of Fiscal Year 2006 the Company 
records still another good result, which confirms the 
soundness of an industrial policy aimed at the devel-
opment and progressive improving of profitability.

Turnover reaches 667.183 million Euro or 8.16% 
increase as compared to 616.850 million Euro of 
2005. Net profit totals 10.534 million Euro, exceed-
ing by 40.37% the result of the previous fiscal year 
(21.029 million Euro) which, less the extraordinary 
tax effects (13.524 million Euro) would have totalled 
7.505 million Euro.

It’s true indeed that the year’s second half re-
sults are affected by the contribution of Elettronica 
Santerno acquired in the month of June and by 
some extensions in the consolidation area, but all 
the same the evident signs of a sound improvement 
of the business activities remain, which would have 
been more remarkable if O&KA (Germany) and 
Fon (Poland) – from which we expect an immediate 
recovery – did not miss achieving their respective 
plans caused by heavy negative effects recorded dur-
ing the first half of the year.

In other words, all the additional opportunities for 
recovery which make us look forward with optimism 
to the achievement of the triennial plan submitted 
in the fall and susceptible to incremental revisions 
are there. Anyway, the good directions taken by the 
company has been confirmed by the positive trend 
of the classic indexes, with ebitda going from 6.75% 
to 7.73%, ebit registering a 4.50% against 3.48% 
and generation of Cash flow totalling 32.080 million 
Euro as compared to 27.599 million Euro recorded in 
2005, less the above mentioned tax effects.

The apparent unorthodox financial management 
is fully explainable by the agreed exit and consequent 
liquidation of the minority shareholding Indian com-

pany, through the favourable acquisition of Elet-
tronica Santerno and increase of current assets on the 
basis of more important business programmes. Not 
withholding the fact that a decisive action for reduc-
ing inventories has been anyway requested, certainly 
not uninfluential on the finances, and by emphasising 
optimisation of the production processes in the vari-
ous branches throughout the world.

Without falling in easy excitements and well aware 
of the many things still to be accomplished, we can 
therefore look ahead to the Group future with greater 
positive outlook. Carraro in fact holds a solid inter-
national structure, open and ready for a potential 
extraordinary development. We will not forego op-
portunities for additional expansion of the produc-
tion network through potential new set ups of plants 
capable of satisfying both, increase of profitability as 
well as business expansion on new markets.

In this context the mentioned acquisition of mi-
nority shareholding of Carraro India Pune, Mahar-
ashtra is to be read, to which new programmes for 
production of industrial transmissions and strength-
ening the range of agriculture transmissions are to be 
assigned. For the certain world market, but most of 
all for the Indian one, ever so receptive to advanced 
technologies. Thus, after a marginal although prof-
itable experience, the China (Qingdao, Shangdon) 
market will start in a decisive manner, through the 
launch of the new production of 4 wheel drive ax-
les in October of this year, making Carraro Qingdao 
Drive System an important development base.

If we add to these two strategic centres the con-
solidated presences in Argentina, Poland and Ger-
many, (this latter busy in production of very special-
ised niches) we have a complete picture of a truly 
globalized company, capable of competing in an very 
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favourable manner in complex markets, especially nowadays when many Eastern 
European countries are being added to the traditional target markets, including 
Russia, Middle East and Turkey above all.

An expansion fuelled by new products coupled with the technological advance-
ments of the traditional ones. Exactly in light of this, that the already mentioned ac-
quisition of the majority shareholding (67%) of Elettronica Santerno (Imola) must 
be viewed, singled out in order to favour production of inverters assigned to Material 
Handling transmissions (besides strengthening the Group electronic know-how) and 
consequently finding out sources of business strengthening projects destined to affect 
in not secondary terms our future programmes, like in specialised sectors of renew-
able energies (starting from photovoltaic, to then aim at wind power and hybrids).

In reference to that, we need to point out with proper emphasis, the innovative 
Carraro company commitment and current research efforts (with costs exceeding 
2% of the turnover) found at the heart of the Engineering Centre, today coordi-
nated from the Italian Head Office, through study groups present at the operating 
branches in Germany and Argentina and through the set up of Carraro Technolo-
gies in India, where about 30, a number sure to increase during 2007, engineers 
already operate in a coordinated manner and interactive with the entire network of 
technical activities. 

It is evident that there are the premises for aiming at new important goals, both in 
dimensions (which today has a strategic important significance) as well as from the 
stand point of the Group financial appreciation. Gratified for the results achieved up 
to know, we must not let off the accelerator from the many important things to do. 
Among which, how to guarantee full efficiency of an organisation called to operate 
in a new industrial era, posed for changes and promoting growth of the individual 
business entities besides today’s main activity. Especially in places where their ex-
pansion can mean a profitable policy of diversification of the individual business 
units, by opening to new market initiatives. A strategy this, to fulfil simultaneously 
with the study of new alliances and possible acquisitions. In short, all that is of 
help in strengthening the leadership of the current core business, but altogether to 
broaden the offer of innovative products.

The work of the last decade aimed all at the process of globalisation casts new op-
portunities within a global dimension which has broadened the presence of know-
how within a productive framework and which has taken manpower abroad, during 
the period in question, from zero to over 40% (1,167 on a total of 2,857 persons). Man-
agement complexities for which just technological support, although sophisticated is 
not enough. Places where man’s action is still fundamental, is necessary to proceed 
with in-depth training and development activities that help creating the sense of be-
longing capable of generating an environmental factor of cooperation amongst those 
operating within the Group at any latitude and insuring conditions conducive to a 
strategy that aims at fundamental goals especially for talents and know-how. All those 
characteristics certainly present today in Carraro potentialities.
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TURNOVER
The Group turnover as of 31 December 2006 has reached 667.183 million Euro 

increased by 8.16% over 2005 turnover which settled around 616.850 million Euro. 
For the achievement of such results have contributed the larger volumes brought by 
the acquisition of Elettronica Santerno spa included in the consolidation area for 
the month of July and acquisition of controlling interest in Stm srl Company (al-
ready held by 50%), consolidated entirely beginning the month of November. 

In comparative terms, the turnover has grown by 6% thanks to the most favour-
able conditions within the market of reference, recorded especially in the second 
half of the operating year, especially in China, India and Turkey. To this growth have 
contributed especially the Polish company Fon with +54.07% of business volumes 
as compared to the previous year, Carraro Argentina with an increase of 32.31%, 
Carraro India with (+28.90%) and Siap spa (+14.19%). 

EBITDA AND EBIT
Consistent with the plans, during 2006 the activities directed at re-balancing 

sales conditions and greater acceleration of decentralised processes of both procure-
ment sources and industrial operations toward low cost areas have continued with 
greater acceleration.

Thanks to these and greater volumes, which have made possible a better absorp-
tion of fixed costs, we confirm recovery of productivity, especially during the second 
half of the year.

The ebitda (intended as the sum of the operating results and amortisation) has 
grown by 23.87% going from 41.647 million Euro or 6.75% of 2005 turnover, to 
51.590 million Euro or (7.73% of the turnover).

After amortisation for 21.546 million Euro (20.094 million Euro in 2005), the 
consolidated ebit (intended as income statement operating result) goes from 21.495 
million Euro in 2005 or (3.48% of turnover) to 30.044 million Euro or (4.50% of 
the turnover), increased by 39.77%. Just as for the turnover, we emphasize that for 
the achievement of these results have contributed the Elettronica Santerno and Stm 
companies, less which the ebitda and ebit growths would have been respectively 
of 18.29% and 29.82%.

FINANCIAL CHARGES
As consequence of the average rate of borrowing, the financial charges have 

reached 7.060 million Euro or 1.06% of the turnover, up as compared to 5.206 mil-
lion Euro (0.84% of the turnover) of the previous fiscal year.

The interest hedge, calculated on the basis of total net financial charges on ebitda 
settles at about 7.31% as compared to 8% as of 31 December 2005, thus remaining 
compatible with the Group financial assets structure.
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CURRENCY EXCHANGES DIFFERENCES
Currency exchange differences as of 31 December 2006 are negative for 893 thou-

sand Euro (they were negative for 1.223 million Euro as of 31 December 2005) and 
include the effects of fair value evaluation of the derivative (financial) instruments, 
positive for 52 thousand Euro.

NET RESULT
The 2006 financial year closed with a net income of Euro 10.534 million, (1.58% 

of the turnover) compared with net income as of 31 December 2005 of Euro 21.029 
million, (3.41% of the turnover). This choice generated an accounting effect of con-
siderable importance for the year 2005 due to the difference between the value of the 
taxes on the revaluations of the fixed assets for ias purposes, calculated using the tax 
rate of 37.25%, and recorded in the financial statements as of 31 December 2004, 
and the value of the substitute tax in compliance with law 266 equal to 12% based 
on 2005 for the same revaluation. This difference presented a positive balance for 
13.524 million Euro and the net profit for the year 2005 would have amounted to 
7.505 million Euro if it were recorded net of this difference, compared with 10.534 
million Euro for the year 2006 the growth rated therefore to 40%. In comparison, 
like we did for ebitda and ebit, if we exclude from 2006 results the contributions 
of Elettronica Santerno and Stm, the result would still show a growth of 25.38%.

CASH FLOW
The cash flow generated has been 32.080 million Euro as compared to 41.123 

million Euro of 2005 (intended as the total of net profit and fixed assets amortisa-
tion and depreciations). Even in this case is necessary to consider the non-recur-
rent effect of the positive difference in fiscal year 2005 commented about it in the 
preceding paragraph, less which the recalculated cash flow would be 27.599 million 
Euro and the 2006 operating year contribution by Elettronica Santerno and Stm. 
Therefore, in comparison, 2006 amount would show a growth of 11.50%.

INVESTMENTS 
Gross consolidated investments amounted to Euro 35.150 million, most of which 

intended to increase the production capacity in the components division and for the 
activities for maintaining the technological level for the entire Group; for the year 
2005, the balance came to Euro 34.294 million. 

RESEARCH AND INNOVATION
Still high the costs for innovation and research, whose purposes and applications 

are commented in a special paragraph, which total for fiscal year 2006 13.897 mil-
lion Euro or 2.1% of the turnover, up by 8.9% as compared to 12.759 million Euro or 
2.1% of the 2005 turnover. 
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NET FINANCIAL POSITION 
The net financial position as of 31 December 2006 negative for 131.361 million 

Euro, shows an increase as compared to 30 June 2006 negative for 99.587 million 
Euro, mainly due to the disbursement relative to the acquisition of the Carraro India 
Holdings and due to negative consolidation of financial position for the Elettronica 
Santerno and Stm companies as compared to 31 December 2005 for 72.819 million 
Euro. Borrowing grows also for the increase of current assets generated by greater 
volumes and decrease of suppliers’ payment terms consequent an intense process of 
purchasing globalisation. 

Gearing, (intended as the net financial position to net equity ratio), was equal to 
110.23% as of 31 December 2006, versus 89.29% as of 30 June 2006 and 62.72% 
as of 31 December 2005; whereas the ratio between financial position and ebitda 
settles at 2.55 times (2.15 times as of 30 June 2006).

Analyses of activities per business segment

2006 has seen a general positive trend for all the Group markets of references.
The BU Drivelines & Drives ha recorded an increase of sale by 3.25% sales com-

pared to the previous year, thanks to a particular good showing of loaders, wheel 
loaders, road surfacing machines, material handling and planetary gears for appli-
cations in Heavy Construction and mining markets..

The Components Division has recorded a growth in excess of 18% thanks to the 
increase of world demand for quality gears.

The Vehicles Division has benefited from the production start-up of new models 
for the Agco client thus recording a growth of 19%. In reference of such, it must be 
noted that the comparisons with the previous year is not comparable in terms of 
turnover because 2005 refers to only 9 months. 

AGRICULTURAL MARKET
Generally worldwide 2006 agricultural market has kept steady levels, with some 

local differences, where we see India and China in the leading roles with volumes 
definitely up, sustained also by the recently issued renewed polices by the two gov-
ernments promoting agriculture. At this year onset, the trend of growth is continu-
ing and there aren’t any signs showing short term changes in trends.

On the contrary, is 2006 South America has reached the historical minimums 
due to the revaluation of the Brazilian currency against the Dollar, what has made 
the America agricultural goods much more competitive on the world market; in 
2007 we note some important signals of recovery connected to the increase of value 
of the two typical Brazilian productions: sugar cane and corn, both utilised for the 
production of bio-diesels. Recent projections show a market for agricultural trac-
tors increasing by 30% as compared to last year.
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The USA market has shown a drop at the beginning of 2006 compared to the 
important values reached in 2005. Thanks to the devaluation of the Dollar and in-
creased demand of cereals for bio-diesel, the market has regained strength in the 
second half of the year. In the Utility Tractors sector, the demand has kept up during 
the entire period of 2006. These trends are confirmed also for 2007. 

In 2006 the Western Europe market has continued a slow structural drop be-
cause of constant reduction of agricultural incentives. Portion of growing produc-
tion of tractors in Western Europe has had to turn to export especially toward 
Eastern Europe. For 2007 are not expected significant changes. In addition, it is 
to be noted that in Eastern Europe there is a re-composition of the product mix 
which sees an increase of large size powered tractors at the expenses of the small 
ones (< 100 hp). 

In Eastern Europe the market has given important signs of resurgence: on the 
increase the introduction on the market of new tractors and new brands, while even 
the old manufactures of the former soviet union system which seemed completely 
vanished from the scene, have resumed production and achieving considerable vol-
umes. 

Another region which in 2006 has shown signs of briskness is the Middle East, 
with special reference to the Turkish market. Even in 2007 this region should main-
tain important trends of growth.

CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT MARKET
Generally the Construction Equipment market in 2006 has remained stable at 

the good levels already achieved in 2005, while for 2007 even if the market will re-
main about the same as far as overall volumes, a sales re-composition should resume 
from a geographical stand point, with USA down and, even if for different reasons, 
Europe, China and India will see an increase.

On the Chinese market for the year 2006, the important growth paces expe-
rienced in the past years connected to structural works, which are characterising 
the entire Chinese territories based on important international appointments have 
been confirmed: Olympic games and Expo; this trend should continue for 2007. 

The Indian market within the CE maintains its rate of growth, which has begun 
to develop at paces unseen before: the current government policies aimed at filling 
in some large gaps connected to infrastructures (roads, harbours, airports, gas pipe-
lines) are the main driving forces.

At the end of 2006 Europe has embarked on a phase of positive cycle, after vari-
ous years of contraction. Currently a fleet of machines which has reached the age of 
replacement is being renewed: all this is favoured by a general growth of the gdp.

In the USA, while the Heavy CE market remains steady connected to the world 
demand for basic resources, the Light CE, a segment tied more to the real estate 
market trend, at the beginning of the current year is starting to show the first signs 
of ending the longest positive cycle ever known.
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In South America the CE market in 2006 has maintained low levels and not even 
for 2007 new resurgences are forecasted: the low level of internal demand is due to 
the high cost of money. Except for the Heavy CE, in particular mining machines.

Throughout the rest of the world the demand has been generally up in 2006 and 
it is expected to continue along the same trend, especially in Middle East and Africa 
where the growth drive are the investments connected to the growing demand of 
raw material.

AUTO AND TRUCK MARKET
Our marginal presence in this market affects us by the trend of the general type 

of demand. With our products we are positioned in low volume segments for spe-
cial 4 wheel driver vehicles. Toward the end of 2006 we have noticed an increase 
of the demand, which thanks to a series of projects started during the past years 
and starting up for production in the next few months, will result in an increase 
of sales in 2007.

Based on constant volumes of 2005, in 2006 the turnover has increased by 23% 
thanks to a virtuous combination of change of mix and price increase.

MATERIAL HANDLING MARKET
The Material Handling market remains stable in Europe and USA but increasing 

in the emerging markets.
Operations of concentration and acquisition continue in the Material Handling 

industry, the most important of which in 2006 has been the acquisition of Still, 
Linde and Om by the kkr fund.

Carraro sales in 2006 have shown an increase of 24% as compared to 2005; lower 
than expectations, mainly due to delay in starting up production by some clients 
in the last four months period. These postponements will impact also 2007 sales, 
which will show expected volumes not before the 3rd quarter.

PLANETARY DRIVES MARKET
In 2006 the demand for reduction gears and gear motors has been strong, driven 

by the growth in construction and mining equipment. The strong world demand 
involves the entire supplying industry and continues in 2007. Carraro has strongly 
benefited by this market growth, even in the presence of difficulties tied to the pro-
curements. In 2006 Carraro volumes have grown by 23% and similar growth is 
forecasted for 2007. 

After a standstill in 2005 tied to the closing of a Kone plant, the power-station 
sector for escalators has resumed growth in 2006 and we expect to remain stable in 
2007. 

Through the acquisition of Elettronica Santerno, the Business Unit Power Con-
trol has been set-up and not comparable with the previous year.
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The breakdown of the turnover by market segment is presented below:

SALES SALES TO THIRD PARTIES SALES WITHIN THE GROUP
2006 2005 Diff. % 2006 2005 Diff. % 2006 2005 Diff. %

Drivelines
& drives

547.138 529.927 3.25 538.627 519.470 3.69 8.511 10.457 – 18.61

Components 95.128 80.495 18.18 35.485 29.786 19.13 59.643 50.709 17.62

Vehicles 81.765 68.634 19.13 81.645 67.594 20.79 120 1.040 – 88.46

Power control 11.426 – 11.426 – – – –

Eliminations 
and unallo-
cated assets

– 68.274 – 62.206 9.75 – – – – 68.274 – 62.206 9.75

Consolidated 
total

667.183 616.850 8.16 667.183 616.850 8.16 – – –

Sales are broken down by geographic area as follows:

GEOGRAPHIC AREA 2006 % 2005 %  % ’06 - ’05

North America 149.921 22.47 145.068 23.52 + 3.35

Germany 113.479 17.01 97.962 15.88 + 15.85

France 62.540 9.37 71.280 11.56 – 12.26

UK 56.301 8.44 68.193 11.06 – 17.44

India 32.430 4.86 24.686 4.00 + 31.37

South America 27.341 4.10 27.227 4.41 + 0.42

Poland 18.648 2.80 18.408 2.98 + 1.30

China 15.428 2.31 5.992 0.97 + 157.48

Turkey 12.849 1.93 4.548 0.74 + 182.52

Other E.U. areas 48.011 7.20 41.270 6.69 + 16.33

Other countries outside E.U. 11.222 1.68 13.451 2.18 – 16.58

Total abroad 548.170 82.16 518.085 83.99 + 5.81

Italy 119.013 17.84 98.765 16.01 + 20.50

Total 667.183 100.00 616.850 100.00 + 8.16

including

Total E.U. areas 417.992 62.65 395.878 64.18 + 5.59

Total countries outside E.U. 249.191 37.35 220.972 35.82 + 12.77

PAYROLL AND RELATED COSTS
The Group personnel, including closed-end work contracts, apprentices and tem-

porary work contracts shows to be 2,857 individuals as of 31 December 2006 (of 
which 2,097 workers) against the 2,524 individuals at the end of December 2005.

The increase of the total number of employees is given by the inclusion of Elet-
tronica Santerno (July 2006) and Stm (September 2006) and by the increase of 
the activities and thus of the staff at Turbo Gears and Carraro India as well as the 
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strengthening of the Indian technological structure. In reference to this latter, the 
strengthening of the Indian technological structure (tripled the number of assigned 
engineers) has allowed for a noticeable support to the various product development 
platforms, thus guaranteeing an R&D integrated process thanks also to the innova-
tive information and application structures utilised. 

To the extent of a broader project of organisational development, started in 2004, 
during the last four months the project Key People has begun. Such project will al-
low us to acknowledge characteristics and capabilities of the resources involved, 
with reference to a defined model, all for the purpose of identifying the potential 
level of development of the individuals for broader responsibilities and thus match 
the company projects with the best available resources.

RESEARCH AND INNOVATION
During 2006, the Group Engineering Office, consistent with the company stra-

tegic objectives, has continued its implementation of the Research and Innovation 
activities in both, within the field of Product and New Technologies Development as 
well as within the field of Evolution of Methods and Systems. 

It has been further strengthened the new Research and Development Centre Car-
raro Technologies Ltd in Pune India, as a support to all engineering sites of the Car-
raro Group, with a perspective of a continuous worldwide expansion, both in terms 
of resources as well as know-how for the company capabilities of product develop-
ment. 

Acquisition of the majority shareholding of Elettronica Santerno, a company op-
erating in the field of Power Electronics for industrial applications and renewable 
energies sectors, has allowed for a significant evolution for the portfolio of know-
how according to the Group strategic plan and its focus toward power conversion 
and transmissions systems. The new know-how and operating potentials allow the 
Carraro Group to seize new opportunities coming on the world market now. 

On the various Drivelines & Drives platforms we have achieved important objec-
tives by widening the range of products, strengthening standardisation, develop-
ment of modular solutions and integrating varied technologies. In particular, we 
have given great impulse to the transmission area, with an important focus on the 
development of advanced automated solutions, by leveraging on the know-how of 
the Systems and New Technologies area and on the development of new control 
systems thus allowing the Group an ever stronger and recognisable positioning on 
the market of reference. 

We have further strengthened also the Vehicle Engineering department through a 
focused attention to the projects for improving quality, cost control and realisation 
of new range of vehicles conform to the new international legislations on polluting 
emissions.

With reference to the R&D organisation of activities and methods, 2006 has seen 
also the operational start-up of the plm platform. The evident benefits can be no-



REPORT ON OPERATIONS

34

ticed by the consolidation and sharing of knowledge, products data traceability and 
cooperation extended to the development activity (knowledge management).

Significant events in 2006

On 29 May 2006, its natural expiry date, the residual portion of the bond issued 
by Carraro International sa on 29 May 2001, amounting to Euro 75 million, was 
reimbursed.

On the same day, a loan from a pool of banks was granted to Carraro Interna-
tional SA for a total of Euro 80 million, having already been raised in 2005 with a 
group of leading banks; the duration of the loan is from 2006 through 2012.

As of 14 June 2006, the new company Carraro Technologies India Ltd. was es-
tablished in Pune, 99% owned by Carraro International sa and 1% by Carraro spa; 
the company is destined to carry out design, research and development activities in 
favour of the Group, supporting the industrial activities. 

On 1 July 2006, the Parent Company Carraro spa acquired a controlling interest 
(67%) in Elettronica Santerno, a company specialized in the production of static 
power converters, used for the electronic regulation of speed and for the conversion, 
marketing and after sales service of inverters.

The acquisition is of strategic value since it makes it possible to extend the techno-
logical coverage to electronic control and power systems and their integration within 
the driveline systems which represent the Group’s core business. It also makes it 
possible for Carraro to gain admittance to the sector involved in the production and 
conversion of electricity which is currently undergoing sharp growth. 

On 12 September 2006 the acquisition of the residual 49% of the subsidiary Car-
raro India with finalisation in October has been completed, a strategic operation in 
light of the very important development outlook of this market in the agricultural 
sector.

In order to strengthen growth and strategy of the Business Unit Components, on 
1 November the control of Stm company has been finally achieved, already held by 
50%, through acquisition of 2 shares for a total value of 500 Euro.

On 22 December 2006 the Carraro Finance Ltd with head office in Dublin, Ire-
land controlled by Carraro International has been incorporated. The Company ob-
jective is to support the parent company to the benefit of the Group for the interna-
tional financial and treasury operations.

Performance of the consolidated companies

The most significant information referring to the companies belonging to the 
Carraro Group is presented below.
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CARRARO SPA
The cash flow came to Euro 444.105 million, disclosing an increase on the bal-

ance of 2.54% compared to Euro 433.099 million as of 2005. 
The drop in sales for agricultural (-5.8%) and industrial (-3.8%) axles has been 

compensated by the growth of tractors sales, this year calculated on the basis of 12 
months against the 9 of the previous year, increase of sales of agricultural transmis-
sions (+93.9%), industrial transmissions (+4.6%) and trailers axles (+13.1%).

Exports weighed in for 85.1% compared with 86.1% as of 31 December 2005. The 
areas were the majority of sales went were: the USA with 23.2% (24.6% as of 31 
December 2005) and the European Union (Italy excluded) with 52.9% (52.2% as of 
31 December 2005).

The ebitda of 19.665 million Euro (4.43% of the turnover) is substantially in line 
with the result as of 31 December 2005 amounted to 19.618 million Euro (4.53% of 
the turnover) as well as the operating margin for 2006 of 11.557 million Euro (2.6% 
of the turnover) as against 11.174 million Euro (2.58% of the turnover) as of 31 De-
cember 2005.

The net financial charges increased by 9.47% up to 3.213 million Euro, (0.72% 
of the turnover) when compared with the 2.935 million Euro for 2005 (0.68 of the 
turnover) as consequence of the average rate of borrowing for the year.

Net currency exchange differences as of 31 December 2006, including the hedg-
ing costs are positive for 129 thousand Euro (they were negative for 3.855 million 
Euro as of 31 December 2005) and include the effects of fair value evaluation of the 
derivative (financial) instruments, negative for 53 thousand Euro.

Income from equity investments for Euro 4.119 million (4.214 as of 31 December 
2005) refer to income generated by dividends distributed by the subsidiary Siap spa 
for Euro 2 million and Carraro Argentina for 2.119 million Euro.

Amendments of financial assets show to be positive for 1.679 million Euro as con-
sequence of restating the Carraro India holdings at the historical cost and thanks to 
positive financial results achieved during the current fiscal year, while they showed 
to be negative for 1.063 million Euro as of 31 December 2005, due to the deprecia-
tion of the holdings in Assali Emiliani company. 

With an amount of current and deferred taxation equal to 5.799 million Euro, 
the financial year 2006 closed with net income of Euro 8.471 million, 1.91% of the 
turnover compared with net income as of 31 December 2005 of Euro 12.179 million, 
corresponding to 2.81% of the turnover.

It is worth emphasising that, as reported in the analysis of consolidated results, 
the result for 2005 was affected an accounting effect of considerable importance for 
the year 2004 due to the difference between the value of the taxes on the revalua-
tions of the fixed assets for ias purposes, calculated using the tax rate of 37.25%, and 
recorded in the financial statements as of 31 December 2004, and the value of the 
substitute tax in compliance with law 266 equal to 12% based on the same revalua-
tion. This difference was shown as positive for 9.071 million Euro, less of which the 
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2005 profit would have been 3.108 million Euro. Therefore, in comparable terms 
the growth of 2006 result is 172.55%.

For the year 2006 amortization and depreciation came to Euro 8.358 million as 
against Euro 8.444 million as of 31 December 2005, leading to a cash flow of Euro 
16.829 million as against Euro 20.623 million as of 31 December 2005.

Gross investments during 2006 amounted to Euro 11.336 million compared with 
Euro 8.313 million at the end of 2005, and mainly concerned the purchase of a real 
estate home to the spare parts division for a total amount of Euro 4.694 million. 
The operation has been finalised through the replacement in the leasing contract, 
removed from the contract of company rental for tractors production in force with 
the Agritalia spa. The net financial position disclosed debt of Euro 69.181 million, 
compared with Euro 38.189 million as of 30 June 2005 (Euro 19.011 million as of 
31 December 2005).

The increase as compared to the June figure is to be almost entirely attribut-
able to the financial support needed by the International Carraro subsidiary for 
the acquisition of the minority shareholding of Carraro India and start-up of new 
international operations; while in comparison with the December 2005 figure, the 
increase is due to the increase in current assets based on greater volumes of sales 
and changed purchasing terms.

Staff on the payroll as of 31 December 2006, including temporary staff, came to 
1,046 individuals, 1,045 as of 30 June 2006 (1,038 as of 31 December 2005).

SIAP SPA
For the entire 2006 the demand for gears has stayed strong, both from the Group 

and third parties who recognised to Siap skills of know-how, quality and competi-
tiveness such to be placed ever more at the level of an important player, capable 
of growing autonomously and increasing volumes outside the Group. Proof is the 
recent recognition by Caterpillar, which has numbered Siap among the first 10 part-
ners of strategic suppliers of gears in the world according to the qcldm method 
(Quality, Cost, Logistic, Delivery, Management) amongst over 270 suppliers. The 
turnover has grown by 14.74% as compared to the past fiscal year, reaching 91.936 
million Euro (80.122 million Euro in 2005).

Thanks to the streamlining of the production processes and to greater volumes, 
ebitda increased by 16% and came to Euro 13.098 million (14.25% of sales rev-
enues), when compared with ebitda as of 31 December 2005, Euro 11.291 million, 
(14.09% of sales revenues), as well as the operating margin increased by 29.11% 
which came to 6.794 million Euro (7.39% of sales revenues) as against the margin 
as of 31 December 2005 of Euro 5.262 (6.57% of sales revenues).

Net financial expense totalled Euro 1.099 million, (1.2% of sales revenues), when 
compared with Euro 998 thousand reported in previous financial year (1.25% of 
sales revenues).

With an amount of current and deferred taxation equal to 2.929 million Euro, 
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the financial year 2006 closed with net income of Euro 2.862 million, 3.11% of the 
turnover compared with net income as of 31 December 2005 of Euro 6.707 million, 
corresponding to 8.37% of the turnover. Even for the Siap company, as well as the 
Group parent company, the 2005 figures included an extraordinary impact given by 
the taxes for 4.450 million Euro less of which the increase of 2006 result over 2005 
(2.257 million Euro) would have been 26.8%.

Amortisation and depreciation came to Euro 6.304 million (Euro 6.029 million 
in the previous year) and a profit of 2,862, leading to a cash flow of Euro 9.166 mil-
lion (Euro 12.736 million as of 31 December 2005).

Investments totalling Euro 8.702 million (Euro 7.721 million as of 31 December 
2005) were intended for enhancing the production capacity. 

The net financial position disclosed debt of Euro 19.889 million, improved with 
respect to the result recorded as of 30 June 2006 disclosing debt of Euro 21.568 mil-
lion (Euro 23.466 million as of 31 December 2005).

The staff as of December 2006 numbered 429 individuals 394 as of 31 December 
2005 and 462 in June 2006.

STM SRL
Starting 1 November the company, already held by 50%, is being consolidated 

through the line-by-line accounting method. For a complete information, further 
are supplied the annual figures compared with the previous fiscal year. 

As of 31 December 2006 the turnover reached 19.317 million Euro or up by 11.47% 
as compared to the turnover of 17.329 million Euro in 2005. 56% of the turnover 
is attributable to sales to third parties and exported in Germany (12.92%), Austria 
(11.47%) and Finland (6.68%). 

Thanks to an accurate management of steel procurement and constant high use 
of plants, profitability has improved. The ebitda of 3.141 million Euro (16.26% of 
the turnover) is increasing by 19.08% when compared with Euro 2.638 million of 
the year 2005 (15.22% of the turnover) as well as the operating margin for Euro 
2.417 million (12.51% of the turnover) increased by 20% as against 2.014 million 
Euro (11.62% of the turnover) as of 31 December 2005.

Net financial expense as of 31 December 2006 amounted to Euro 151 thousand, 
0.78% of sales revenues, remained more or less stable when compared with Euro 
160 thousand, 0.92% of sales revenues, in 2005.

The fiscal year, with taxes totalling 1.013 million Euro, 847 thousand Euro in 
2005, closes with a net profit of 1.253 million Euro or 6.49% of the turnover, up by 
1.007 million Euro or 5.81% of the turnover as compared to the past year. 

As a result of amortization and depreciation of Euro 725 thousand (Euro 624 
thousand in previous year), the cash flow amounted to Euro 1.978 million (Euro 
1.631 million at the end of 2005). Investments for 1.940 million Euro have been 
made, increased as compared to 1.116 million Euro made during the past fiscal year 
and allocated to increasing and maintaining the productive capabilities. 
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The net financial position, disclosing borrowing of Euro 3.042 million, has im-
proved when compared with Euro 5.651 million as of 31 December 2005.

The staff as of 31 December 2006 came to 95 employees, there were 90 individu-
als as of 31 December 2005. 

A.E. SRL (ASSALI EMILIANI)
Sales revenues as of 31 December 2006 came to Euro 38.097 million, increasing 

by 13.37% as against Euro 33.603 as of December 2005 with a positive ebitda for 
Euro 886 thousand, 2.32% of the turnover (negative margin of 489 thousand Euro 
in 2005) and a positive operating margin for Euro 718 thousand 1.89% of the turno-
ver (negative margin for Euro 642 thousand in 2005).

2006 result shows a profit of 439 thousand Euro, 2005 fiscal year closed with a 
loss of 935 thousand Euro.

With amortisation totalling 167 thousand Euro, the cash flow is positive for 606 
thousand Euro (negative for 782 thousand Euro the past year).

Investments were made for a total of Euro 19 thousand in order to adapt and en-
hance production plants, and the net financial position disclosed borrowing of Euro 
2.908 million (4.978 million as of June 2006, Euro 5.103 million as of December 
2005). The staff as of 31 December 2005 numbered 61 individuals (63 as of 31 De-
cember 2005 and 66 in June 2006).

ELETTRONICA SANTERNO SPA
The company has been incorporated in the Group on 1 July 2006 and therefore 

the comparative figures are not shown. 
The company, specialised in planning and sale of inverters in industrial applica-

tions for generating energy from renewable sources, has achieved for the period 1 
July – 31 December 2006 a turnover of 11.427 million Euro, 65% of which on the na-
tional market and 35% foreign market, where stand out for importance, the Austral-
ian (8.4%), Indian (4.8%), Eastern Europe (3.6%) and Brazilian (2.3%) markets.

The total turnover has been achieved for 67.4% in the industrial sector and the 
remaining 32.2% in the New Technologies sector which basically includes sales of 
products utilised in applications for the precaution of alternative energies (solar, 
photovoltaic). The company has achieved an ebitda of 1.960 million Euro of 17.15% 
of the turnover, an operating profit of 1.877 million Euro or 16.43% of the turnover 
and a net profit of 1.002 million Euro or 8.77% of the turnover.

With amortisation totalling 83 thousand Euro, the cash flow stands at 1.085 mil-
lion Euro. Investments for 1.076 million Euro have been made for increasing pro-
duction capability. The company net borrowing is negative for 3.714 million Euro. 
Total employees are 59 individuals.

FABRYKA OSI NAPEDOWYCH SA
Even for the Polish subsidiary the volume trend is positive with a turnover of 
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39.420 million Euro or 78.24% up as compared to 22.116 million Euro of the previ-
ous fiscal year. 

Although confirming the process of production improvement which has permit-
ted the achievement of an ebitda of 1.590 million Euro (4.03% of the turnover) as 
compared to 757 thousand Euro (3.42% of the turnover) as of 31 December 2005 
and a positive margin for 203 thousand Euro (0.52% of the turnover) as compared 
to the negative 387 thousand Euro as of 31 December 2005, the company has not 
yet reached the expected level of profitability. For this reason we have implemented 
actions aimed at improving the purchasing policies and a greater selection of sales 
portfolio such to allow the achievement of a more appropriate financial returns in 
the short term.

Financial charges total 508 thousand Euro or 1.29% of the turnover (571 thou-
sand Euro or 2.58% of the turnover in 2005). The currency exchanges difference, 
including hedging charges, are negative for 57 thousand Euro (positive for 123 thou-
sand Euro the past fiscal year). The operating year result are at loss for 329 thou-
sand Euro, loss also in 2005 for 493 thousand Euro.

Amortisations total 1.387 million Euro (1.144 million Euro in 2005) and the cash 
flow is positive for 1.058 million Euro (651 thousand Euro as of 31 December 2005).

Investments as of 31 December 2006 total 4.054 million Euro (2.582 million 
Euro in the previous year) allocated to increasing production capabilities.

The expansion of current assets consequent to greater volumes and investments 
have caused the increase of the net borrowing, negative for 12.634 million Euro as 
compared to 10.473 million Euro as of 30 June 2006 (8.210 million Euro as of 31 
December 2005). Total employees as of 31 December 2006 is 188 individuals (193 
as of 30 June 2006 and 195 as of 31 December 2005).

CARRARO DEUTSCHLAND GMBH
This company is a financial holding company and holds 100% of the share capital 

of O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH.
As of 31 December 2006, the income statement closed with a loss of Euro 48 

thousand, compared with a profit of Euro 145 thousand as of 31 December 2005. 
The net financial position presented borrowing of Euro 231 thousand, compared 

with borrowing of Euro 196 thousand as of 30 June 2006 and Euro 158 thousand as 
of 31 December 2005.

O&K ANTRIEBSTECHNIK GMBH
With a portfolio which would have more than compensate the planned produc-

tion transfers to other Group’s companies located in low-cost areas, due to provi-
sioning problems the turnover growth objectives have not been achieved and the 
fiscal year profitability has been compromised. Based on this, measures have been 
implemented for the reorganisation of the German company operations, such to 
handle more efficiently the growth for the next years which appears to be extremely 
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interesting, especially for the drives sector.
The total turnover of 64.870 million Euro is lower by 8.27% as compared to 

70.721 million Euro in 2005. The ebitda of 1.526 million Euro (2.35% of the turno-
ver) is decreasing as against Euro 1.926 of the year 2005 (2.72% of the turnover). 
The operating margin of Euro 881 thousand (1.36% of the turnover) is decreasing as 
against Euro 1.342 million of the year 2005 (1.90% of the turnover). Net financial 
expense as of 31 December 2006 amounted to Euro 503 thousand, 0.77% of sales 
revenues, compared with Euro 469 thousand, 0.66% of sales revenues, in 2005.

The financial year 2006 closes with a net profit of 250 million Euro, 0.39% of the 
turnover, down with respect to the balance of Euro 1.549 during the same period in 
2005, where the percentage of turnover was 2.19%.

Amortization and depreciation of Euro 645 thousand (Euro 584 thousand in 2005) 
led to a cash flow of Euro 895 million (Euro 2.133 million in 2005). Investments were 
incurred for a total of Euro 880 thousand (Euro 1.007 million in 2005).

The net financial position as of 31 December 2006 disclosed borrowing of Euro 
3.456 million (Euro 3.963 million as of 30 June 2006 and Euro 1.712 million as of 
31 December 2005). The growth compared with the result of the year 2005 is due 
exclusively to greater volumes. The staff as of 31 December 2006 numbered 188 
(199 as of 30 June 2006, 212 as of 31 December 2005).

CARRARO INTERNATIONAL SA
The financial holding company closed the 2006 accounting period with a loss of 

Euro 210 thousand (profit of Euro 1.908 million as of 31 December 2005).
During 2006 the company has consolidated its role of sub-holding of the Group 

International holdings. It has strengthened its assets through increases of capital 
achieved through conveyances by the parent company to the Polish Fon and Irish 
Carraro Finance. It has acquired 49% of the Carraro India for 20 million Euro and 
underwritten capital increases as support to the start-up of the production opera-
tions of the Indian Turbo Gear Company for 4.217 million Euro thus increasing the 
controlling percentage to 86.54%. 

 The net financial position as of 31 December 2006 disclosed borrowing of Euro 
29.539 million (Euro 5.488 million as of 30 June 2006 and Euro 5.660 million as 
of 31 December 2005).

CARRARO FINANCE LTD.
A Company with head office in Dublin Ireland, has been incorporated on 22 De-

cember 2006 and held by Carraro International for the purpose of supporting the 
parent company in carrying out international finances and treasury operations for 
the benefit of the Group. 

The financial statement as of 31 December 2006 shows, as the only important 
entry, financial receivables for 28.1 million Euro.
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CARRARO NORTH AMERICA INC.
Carraro North America generated sales revenues as of 31 December 2006 amount-

ing to Euro 65 thousand, down with respect to the Euro 37 thousand as of 31 Decem-
ber 2005, with a negative operating margin of 159 thousand Euro (positive margin 
for 873 thousand Euro as of 31 December 2005), due to lower revenues for trading 
commission income. 

The fiscal year closed with a profit of 122 thousand Euro due to a tax recovery 
(profit of 549 thousand Euro as of 31 December 2005). As a result of amortization 
and depreciation of Euro 500 thousand (Euro 259 thousand as of 31 December 
2005), the cash flow amounted to Euro 622 thousand (Euro 808 thousand as of 
December 2005).

The net financial position has a positive balance of Euro 81 thousand, a positive 
balance for 178 thousand Euro as of 30 June 2006, and a negative balance for Euro 
258 thousand in the year 2005. Staff on the payroll at the end of 2006 came to 3 
unit (1 in June 2006, 1 in December 2005).

CARRARO ARGENTINA SA
The good growth of Carraro Argentina has been confirmed, which based on the 

Brazilian market of reference and which remained stable for the entire 2006, has 
been able to become competitive in the European and North American markets and 
thus increasing the volumes on the same. 

The turnover reaches 58.724 million Euro, an increase of 28.56% as compared 
to 45.678 of the past fiscal year. The ebitda for Euro 6.584 million (11.21% of the 
turnover) up by 12.25% when compared with Euro 5.865 million of the year 2005 
(12.84% of the turnover). The operating result of Euro 4.014 (6.84% of the turno-
ver) up by 17.74% when compared with Euro 3.409 million in the year 2005 (7.46% 
of the turnover). Financial charges total 84 thousand Euro or 0.14% of the turnover 
(401 thousand Euro or 0.88% of the turnover in 2005.

As of 31 December 2006 the currency exchange net differences including hedg-
ing charges are positive for 568 thousand Euro, they were positive for 195 thousand 
Euro as of 31 December 2005. After taxes for 1.406 million Euro, the net result is 
positive for 3.092 million Euro with an increase of 38.03% as compared to the profit 
of 2.240 million Euro in 2005. Amortization and depreciation of Euro 2.570 million 
(Euro 2.456 for the period 2005) led to a cash flow equating to Euro 5.662 million 
compared with Euro 4.696 million as of 31 December 2005).

Investments for 2.497 million Euro have been mainly allocated to maintaining 
the company productive capabilities (3.633 million Euro as of 31 December 2005).

The net financial position as of 31 December 2006 disclosed a positive balance of 
Euro 1.757 million, a slight decrease with respect to 30 June 2006, when a positive 
balance of Euro 2.253 million was disclosed (positive balance of Euro 2.540 million 
as of 31 December 2005). The staff as of 31 December 2006 numbered 356 indi-
viduals (352 as of 30 June and 338 as of 31 December 2005).
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CARRARO INDIA LTD.
In 2006 the company has confirmed its fundamental role for the Group growth 

strategy. The demand has kept strong in both local market, where it achieves 60.9% 
of the sales and foreign market (39.1% of which 31.4% to other Group companies 
and 7.7% to third parties clients), and moreover new opportunities for a greater 
growth in the future have been achieved. Plus, with the total control of the holdings, 
a series of additional transfers of production from the European plants have been 
under way, which will show their effects already starting next operating year. 

The turnover has grown by 23.91% to 38.889 million Euro as compared to the 
past fiscal year of 31.384 million Euro.

Thanks in part to the devaluation of the Indian Rupee, the ebitda improved 
sharply to Euro 58.85% and came to Euro 4.726 (12.15% of the turnover) compared 
with Euro 2.975 million (9.48% of the turnover) for the period 2005 and the oper-
ating margin of Euro 3.752 million has nearly doubled when compared with Euro 
1.927 million for the period 2005. In terms of a percentage of the turnover it goes 
from 6.14% to 9.65%.

Net financial expense amounted to Euro 736 thousand, 1.89% of the turnover, 
(Euro 799 thousand or 2.55% of the turnover as of 31 December 2005) and currency 
exchanges differences and hedging costs present a negative margin for Euro 1.115 
million (positive margin for Euro 1.125 million as of 31 December 2005).

After posting, for the first time since incorporation of the company, deferred pay-
able taxes for 504 thousand Euro, 2006 fiscal year closes with a profit of 1.397 mil-
lion Euro, in slight decrease as compared to 2.086 million Euro of the previous year. 
Amortization and depreciation came to Euro 974 thousand as against Euro 1.048 
million as of 31 December 2005, leading to a cash flow of Euro 2.371 million (Euro 
3.134 million as of 31 December 2005).

Gross investments were made for Euro 890 thousand, (Euro 1.054 million as of 
December 2005). The net financial position disclosed borrowing of Euro 10.124 
million, a slight improvement with respect to Euro 11.672 million as of 30 June 
2006, but it is increasing when compared with the negative margin of Euro 8.595 
million as of 31 December 2005. The headcount as of 31 December 2006 came to 
192 employees (179 as of 30 June and 166 at the end of December 2005).

TURBO GEARS INDIA LTD.
The production site in India, inaugurated in October 2005 has started operation 

during 2006 and therefore figures from the previous year are not available to be 
compared. The turnover for the period 2006 amounts to Euro 5.972 million with a 
positive ebitda of Euro 440 thousand and a negative operating margin for Euro 69 
thousand, the financial charges total Euro 395 thousand and a net loss of Euro 651 
thousand.

In the last months of the year, the constant growth of volumes has allowed the 
company to achieve the operating break-even point and, as per plan, the company 
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will be profitable starting next fiscal year. 
Investments for 3.741 million Euro have been made, in net decrease as compared 

to the figures of 31 December 2005, the year in which the investments for 9.309 mil-
lion Euro were allocated to the start-up of the production plant. 

The net financial position supporting the working capital necessary for the pro-
duction start-up phase, disclosed borrowing of Euro 6.429 million (Euro 5.817 mil-
lion in June 2006 and Euro 3.747 in December 2005).

CARRARO TECHNOLOGIES INDIA LTD.
As of 14 June 2006, the new company Carraro Technologies India Ltd. was es-

tablished in Pune, 99% owned by Carraro International sa and 1% by Carraro spa; 
the company is destined to carry out design, research and development activities 
in favour of the Group, supporting the industrial activities. The financial year was 
closed with a loss of Euro 82 thousand concerning start-up cost and the net finan-
cial position which was positive for a total of Euro 133 thousand. In this site operate 
16 engineers as support to all the Carraro Group engineering sites.

CARRARO QINGDAO DRIVE SYSTEMS CO. LTD.
We remind that the Chinese subsidiary has been started at the end of 2005 and 

thus the results cannot be compared to the previous year. As of 31 December 2006, 
the company ahs achieved a turnover of 7.679 million Euro mainly from escalators 
gearboxes, an ebitda of 931 thousand Euro (12.12% of the turnover), an operating 
profit for 824 thousand Euro (10.73% of the turnover) and a net profit of 714 thou-
sand Euro (9.29% of the turnover). With amortisations totalling 106 thousand Euro 
it has generated a positive cash flow of 820 thousand Euro. Investments as support 
to the production operations for 684 thousand Euro have been made and thanks to 
the initial capital provided, the net borrowing shows that it is still positive for 201 
thousand Euro. The employees utilised as of 31 December 2006 is 44 individuals 
(32 as of 30 June 2006 and 29 as of 31 December 2005)

Company stock trend

During 2006 the Carraro stock has shown a rising tendency, more marked dur-
ing the second half of the year. The official average price has been 3.855 Euro per 
share with an official minimum trading price of Euro 3.410 on 10 February and a 
maximum price reached on 10 November to 4.300 Euro per share, following the 
presentation before the financial community of the industrial plan for the period 
2007-2009. During the first quarter of 2007, the stock trading has had a strong ris-
ing trend. The minimum for the period has been 4.120 Euro per share reached on 
10 January and the maximum ever has been achieved on 26 February 2007 day in 
which the trading price has been 6.560 Euro.
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Market trend and 2007 forecasts 

During the first few months of 2007 the trend of the principal markets of ref-
erence appears as a whole favourable, sustained by the world economic situation. 
Positive are instead India, China and South America, United States appear to hold 
the Agricultural sector but the Construction sector shows some flexions. Europe is 
positive on the Construction sector and slight lower on the Agricultural one. 

A positive note comes from the BU Components and Power Controls (Santerno) 
for which the outlook of growth remain especially good.

The globalisation process continues in line with the triennial plan submitted in 
October 2006, in particular we point out the operation start-up by the end of the 
year of the new Chinese Plant and expansion of the transmission production plant 
in India. At the same time the re-allocation of components with the local suppliers 
continues. 

The strengthening of the Research and Development area continues and which, 
will experience, among other things, the inauguration of the new plant in Campo-
darsego. The main development lines concern expansion and standardisation of the 
axles and transmissions lines, while are ongoing the advanced studies for the addi-
tions of new technological sectors. 

Based on the first few months of the year, we can therefore conclude that the 
growth and recovery of profitability by the Group proceed favoured by the market 
altogether positive, from the increase of market share and an additional drive gen-
erated by the addition of new technological sectors.

Management and type of financial risks 

The Carraro Group strategy for managing financial risks is conform to the com-
pany objectives defined within the guide lines (so called polices) approved by the 
Carraro spa Board of Directors; in particular, it aims at minimising the risks from 
interest rates and currency exchange and optimisation of the cost of borrowing.

The management of these risks is carried out in observance of prudent principles 
and on a consistent basis with the best market practices and all the risk manage-
ment transactions are handled at central level.

The main objectives indicated by the policy are as follows:
a. exchange rate risk:
1. Hedge all the transactions, both trade and financial, from the fluctuation risk. 
2. Observe, as far as is possible, a ‘currency balance’ logic when hedging the risk, 

favouring the off-setting between the foreign currency revenues and costs and 
the foreign currency receivables and payables, so as to activate the related hedge 
solely for the excess balance not offset.
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3. Do not permit the use or holding of derivative and similar instruments solely 
for trading purposes.

4. Permit the use of just instruments traded on organized markets, for hedging 
transactions.

b. interest rate risks:
1. Hedge financial assets and liabilities from the risk of changes in interest rates.
2. Observe, when hedging the risk, the general criteria of balance between invest-

ments and uses defined for the Group by Carraro spa’s Board of Directors at the 
time of approval of the long-term plans and the budget (floating rate and fixed 
rate portion, short-term and medium/long-term portion).

3. Permit the use of just instruments traded on organized markets, for hedging 
transactions.

Reconciliation statement between the period result
and group assets with those of the parent company 

A reconciliation between the net income (loss) for the period and shareholders’ 
equity of the Group reported in the consolidated interim financial statements and 
the net income (loss) for the period and shareholders’ equity of Carraro spa is as 
follows:

ITEMS Net result for year Shareholders’ equity 
for the current period

Income/(Loss)
for previous year

Shareholders’ equity 
for previous year

Net income and shareholders’ 
equity of Carraro Spa

8.471 82.168 12.179 78.745

Net income and shareholders’ 
equity of the investee companies

8.675 171.572 12.816 99.483

Aggregate 17.146 253.740 24.995 178.228

Elimination of book value
of the investee companies

– 1.679 – 155.340 1.052 – 67.014

Consolidation adjustments – 4.377 20.767 – 4.565 4.886

Reporting of minority interests – 555 – 3.911 – 453 – 2.205

Net income and shareholders’ 
equity of the Group

10.535 115.256 21.029 113.895
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Consolidated Financial Statements
Income Statement as of 31 December 2006
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Notes 31/12/2006 31/12/2005

A. REVENUES FROM SALES

1. Products 655,489 606,178

2. Services 5,514 4,371

3. Other revenues 6,180 6,301

TOTAL REVENUES FROM SALES 1 667,183 616,850

B. OPERATING COSTS

1. Purchases 427,362 420,352

2. Services 109,271 101,017

3. Leases & Rents 3,637 2,909

4. Labour costs 86,757 79,156

5. Amortization, depreciation and writedowns of assets 21,785 20,280

 5.a Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 19,785 18,204

 5.b Amortization of intangible fixed assets 1,511 1,890

 5.c Writedown of fixed assets 250 58

 5.d Writedown of receivables 239 128

6. Change in inventories – 12,428 – 30,247

7. Provisions for risks and contingencies 5,759 5,903

8. Other income and expense – 4,226 – 3,069

9. Internal construction – 778 – 946

TOTAL OPERATING COSTS 2 637,139 595,355

OPERATING RESULT 30,044 21,495

C. RESULT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

10. Income from equity investments 0 0

11. Other financial incomes 3,209 6,651

12. Financial costs and expenses – 10,269 – 11,857

13. Exchange gains and losses (net) – 893 – 1,222

14. Value adjustments to financial assets 550 479

TOTAL RESULT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 3 – 7,403 – 5,949

RESULT BEFORE TAXES 22,641 15,546

15. Current and deferred taxes 4 – 11,552 5,936

NET RESULT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 11,089 21,482

NET RESULT FROM DISCONTINUING OPERATIONS 0 0

NET RESULT 11,089 21,482

16. Result of minority interests – 555 – 453

GROUP CONSOLIDATED RESULT 5 10,534 21,029

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share € 0.25 € 0.50 

Diluted earnings per share € 0.25 € 0.50 
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BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2006

Notes 31/12/2006 31/12/2005

A. NON-CURRENT ASSETS

1. Tangible fixed assets 6 166,745 153,396

2. Intangible fixed assets 7 31,330 8,354

3. Real estate property investments 8 712 703

4. Equity investments in subsidiary, associated and parent companies 9 184 3,353

5. Financial assets 10 1,053 475

 5.1 Loans and receivables 100 216

 5.2 Other financial assets 865 258

 5.3 Financial accruals 88 1

6. Deferred tax assets 11 12,074 12,695

7. Trade and other receivables 12 1,343 1,443

 7.1 Trade receivables 0 0

 7.2 Other receivables 1,343 1,443

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 213,441 180,419

B. CURRENT ASSETS

1. Inventories 13 130,918 115,836

2. Trade and other receivables 12 175,549 168,699

 2.1 Trade receivables 138,192 136,402

 2.2 Other receivables 37,357 32,297

3. Financial assets 10 1,829 5,820

 3.1 Loans and receivables 99 471

 3.2 Other financial assets 937 1,371

 3.3 Financial accruals and deferrals 793 3,978

4. Cash & cash equivalents 14 15,985 55,754

 4.1 Cash 84 259

 4.2 Current Accounts and bank deposits 15,845 55,494

 4.3 Other 56 1

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 324,281 346,109

TOTAL ASSETS 537,722 526,528
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Notes 31/12/2006 31/12/2005

A. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 15

1. Share capital 21,840 21,840

2. Other reserves 40,627 24,106

3. Retained earnings/accumulated losses 0 0

4. Ias/Ifrs Fta reserve 44,384 44,384

5. Other Ias/Ifrs reserves 749 82

Reserve for translation differences – 2,878 2,454

6. Net result for the Group 10,534 21,029

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 115,256 113,895

7. Minority interests 3,912 2,205

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 119,168 116,100

B. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

1. Financial liabilities 16 85,537 12,022

 1.1 Bonds 0 0

 1.2 Loans 85,537 12,022

 1.3 Financial accruals 0 0

 1.4 Other 0 0

2. Trade and other payables 17 1,759 0

 2.1 Trade payables 0 0

 2.2 Other payables 1,759 0

3. Deferred tax liabilities 11 4,175 3,897

4. Staff leaving indemnity and pension funds 19 24,035 22,411

 4.1 Staff leaving indemnities 19,163 17,037

 4.2 Provision for pension funds 4,872 5,374

5. Provisions for risks and charges 20 1,401 2,582

 5.1 Warranty provisions 946 2,037

 5.2 Provision for litigations 388 405

 5.3 Restructuring and re-reoganization provisions 0 0

 5.4 Other provisions 67 140

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 116,907 40,912
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Notes 31/12/2006 31/12/2005

C. CURRENT LIABILITIES

1. Financial liabilities 16 63,303 129,749

 1.1 Bonds (current) 0 74,889

 1.2 Loans 62,589 46,462

 1.3 Financial accruals and deferrals 273 6,377

 1.4 Other 441 2,021

2. Trade and other payables 17 228,942 225,533

 2.1 Trade payables 201,976 205,555

 2.2 Other payables 26,966 19,978

3. Liabilities for current taxes 18 3,184 9,134

4. Provisions for risks and charges (current portions) 20 6,218 5,100

 4.1 Warranty provisions 6,218 5,100

 4.2 Provision for litigations 0 0

 4.3 Provision for business re-organization 0 0

 4.4 Other provisions 0 0

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 301,647 369,516

TOTAL LIABILITIES 418,554 410,428

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 537,722 526,528
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 Share 
capital 

Other reserves: Retained 
earnings 

Accumulated 
losses 

Ias/Ifrs 
Fta 

reserve

Other 
Ias/Ifrs 

reserves 

Translation 
difference 

reserve 

Result for 
the period 

Allocation to 
shareholders 

Minority 
interests 

Total 

equity Incomes

Balance as of 1 Jan 2005 21,840 17,833 8,724 – 42,240 – – 2,324 2,870 91,183 1,478 92,661 

Effects deriving
from Fta Ias 32 and 39

– – – – 2,144 – – – 2,144 – 2,144 

Balance as of
1 Jan 2005 adjusted

21,840 17,833 8,724 – 44,384 – – 2,324 2,870 93,327 1,478 94,805 

Allocation of 2004
net income

           

– to dividends – – – – – –  – 5,250 – 5,250  – 5,250 

– to the legal reserve – – 314 – – –  – 314 –  –

– to retained earnings – – – 2,694 –    2,694 –  –

Income (Losses) recorded 
as of 31.12.2005

          

– posted in net equity – – – – – 82 – – 82 – 82 

– posted in Income Statement – – – – – –  21,029 21,029 453 21,482 

Changes in
consolidation area

– – – 71 – – – – – – 71 – 63 – 8 

Translation differences – – – – – – 4,778 – 4,778 211 4,989 

Balance as of 31 Dec 2005 21,840 17,833 6,273 – 44,384 82 2,454 21,029 113,895 2,205 116,100 

Share 
capital 

Other reserves: Retained 
earnings 

Accumulated 
losses 

Ias/Ifrs 
Fta

reserve

Other 
Ias/Ifrs 

reserves 

Translation 
difference 

reserve 

Result for 
the period 

Allocation to 
shareholders 

Minority 
interests 

Total 

equity Incomes

BALANCE AS OF
1 JAN 2006

21,840 17,833 6,273 – 44,384 82 2,454 21,029 113,895 2,205 116,100

Allocation of 2005
net income

– to dividends – – – – – – – – 5,250 – 5,250 – – 5,250

– to the legal reserve 609 – 609 – – –

– to retained earnings 15,170 – 15,170 – – –

Income (Losses) recorded
as of 31.12.2006

– posted in net equity 667 667 9 676

– posted in Income Statement 10,534 10,534 555 11,089

Changes in
consolidation area

1,518 1,518

Reclassifications 742 – 512 230 – 230 –

Translation differences – 4,820 – 4,820 – 145 – 4,965

BALANCE AS OF
31 DEC 2006

21,840 17,833 22,794 – 44,384 749 – 2,878 10,534 115,256 3,912 119,168
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31/12/2006 31/12/2005

Group net income/loss for the year 10,534 21,029 

Net income/loss for the year (minority interests) 555 453 

Income taxes 11,552 – 5,936 

INCOME BEFORE TAXES 22,641 15,546

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 19,785 18,204 

Amortization of intangible fixed assets 1,511 1,890 

Writedown of fixed assets 250 58 

Provisions for risks 5,759 5,903 

Provisions for employee benefits 3,328 4,357 

Net financial income/expense 7,060 5,206 

Exchange gains and losses (net) 893 1,223 

Income from equity investments 0 – 100 

Value adjustments to financial assets – 676 – 380 

OPERATING CASH FLOW BEFORE CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL 60,551 51,907

Change in inventories – 6,612 – 32,376 

Change in trade and other receivables – 727 – 6,093 

Change in trade and other payables – 1,348 39,062 

Change in receivables/payables for deferred taxation – 67 – 5,099 

Change in provisions for employee benefits – 3,329 – 704 

Change in risk provisions – 5,867 – 6,195 

Dividends received 125 100 

Interest received 6,307 6,595 

Interest paid – 16,374 – 12,745 

Income and charges from tax consolidation – 5,469 – 1,831 

Payment of taxes – 12,751 – 3,127

OPERATING CASH FLOW 14,439 29,494 
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31/12/2006 31/12/2005

Investments in /disposals of tangible fixed assets and property investments – 25,166 – 34,591 

Investments in /disposals of intangible fixed assets – 3,252 – 2,202 

Changes in consolidation area – –

Translation difference on tangible assets – –

Investment in minority shares – 20,140 –

Business combinations – 396 –

Other investments in /disposals of equity investments 86 1,670 

Translation difference (equity reserve)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS/DISPOSALS – 48,868 – 35,123 

Change in current financial assets – 86 – 1,487 

Change in non-current financial assets – 491 68 

Change in current financial liabilities – 68,656 89,282 

Change in non-current financial liabilities 73,515 – 67,288 

Change in share capital 0 –

Change in reserves – 3,923 6,933 

Dividends paid out – 5,250 – 5,250 

Change of minority interests – 447 274 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES – 5,339 22,532 

TOTAL CASH FLOW (CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS) – 39,769 16,903 

BEGINNING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 55,754 38,851 

ENDING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 15,985 55,754 
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION
The issue of Carraro spa consolidated financial statements for the year ended on 

31 December 2006 was authorised by the ordinary resolution of the Board of Di-
rectors as of 29 March 2007. Carraro spa is a joint-stock company incorporated in 
Italy at the Padua Companies’ Register.

These financial statements are drawn up in Euro as it is the currency of most 
part of Group’s transactions.

Foreign companies are included in the consolidated financial statements in com-
pliance with the principles disclosed in the following notes. The present financial 
statements are presented in thousands of Euro.

The business purpose of Carraro Group is to produce and sell drive systems for 
agricultural tractors, construction equipment vehicles, material handling equip-
ment, light commercial vehicles and cars. After the acquisition of Elettronica 
Santerno spa (see below), from this year the Group also produces power and con-
trol electrical systems.

Basis of presentation
The financial statements are drawn up in compliance with the International Fi-

nancial Reporting Standards (ifrs). These financial statements have been prepared 
on the basis of the principle of historical cost, except for derivative financial instru-
ments which are booked at fair value.

Some tangible fixed assets and real estate property investments have been valued 
at the time of first application of the ifrs (1 January 2004) at their fair value as the 
deemed cost. Subsequently, the valuation of the above-mentioned tangible fixed assets 
and property investments is made on the basis of the method of historical amortized 
cost and reduced for losses in value (as explained in section 3 in terms of accounting 
policies and standards applied).

2. FORM AND CONTENT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 

the International Accounting Standards (ias / ifrs) and for this purpose the bal-
ances of the financial statements of the consolidated investee companies have been 
appropriately reclassified and adjusted.

2.1 Form of the accounting schedules
With regards to the form of the consolidated accounting schedules, the Company 

chose to disclose the following accounting forms:
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› Consolidated balance sheet
 The consolidated balance sheet is presented with separate disclosure of the As-

sets, Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity. Assets and Liabilities are stated in the 
consolidated financial statements on the basis of their classification as current 
and non-current.

› Consolidated income statement
 Items in consolidated income statement are classified by nature.
› Consolidated cash flow statement
 The consolidated cash flow statement is presented, showing changes in the cash 

funds and equivalents (as shown in the balance sheet format) divided up by 
operating areas according to ias / ifrs.

› Statement of changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity
 The statement of changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity is presented as 

required by the international accounting standards, with evidence of the result 
for the period separated from other items not recorded in the income statement, 
but charged directly to consolidated shareholders’ equity on the basis of spe-
cific ias / ifrs standards.

› Compliance to Consob regulations (no. 15519/2006)
 In reference to the accounting reports provided for operations with related par-

ties, in compliance to Consob resolution no. 15519 of 27 July 2006, there were 
no such significant balances to require a separate disclosure for the purpose of 
a fair understanding the financial and economic position of the group. A com-
plete detail of these amounts is anyway reported in a specific table at paragraph 
10 below: Relations with related parties.

 There was no need to adjust the Income Statement in connection to signifi-
cant costs and returns not frequent and/or consequent to atypical and/or 
unusual operations.

2.2 Form and content of the consolidated financial statements
Scope of consolidation
The Group’s consolidated interim report contains Carraro spa financial state-

ments and of all companies in which it holds, either directly or indirectly, the major-
ity of Shareholders’ voting rights.

A subsidiary company is an entity in which the Group holds, directly or indirectly 
via its subsidiary companies, more than half of the voting rights, unless, under ex-
traordinary circumstances, it can be clearly proved that such a holding does not rep-
resent control over the entity. Control also exists when the Group Parent Company 
holds half, or a smaller portion, of the votes which can be exercised in Shareholders’ 
meetings if it has:
› control over more than half of the voting rights by means of an agreement with 

other investors;
› the power to decide financial and operating policies of the entity by means of a 
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clause in the Articles of Association or a contract;
› the power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of di-

rectors or the equivalent corporate management body, and the control over the 
entity is held by that board or body; or

› the power to exercise the majority of the voting rights during board meetings or 
meetings of the equivalent corporate management body, and the control over the 
entity is held by that board or body.

The companies consolidated on a line-by-line basis are the following:

Company name Registered offices Currency Nominal value
Share capital

Interest 
holding

SIAP Spa Maniago (PN) Euro 10,122,616 100%

A.E. Srl Castello d’Argile (BO) Euro 40,000 90%

Elettronica Santerno Spa Campodarsego (PD) Euro 2,500,000 67%

Stm Srl Maniago (PN) Euro 1,549,080 50%

Carraro Deutschland GmbH Hattingen (Germany) Euro 10,507,048 100%

Carraro Argentina Sa Haedo, Buenos Aires 
(Argentina)

Argentine 
Peso

97,596,505 99.90%

Carraro India Ltd. Rajangaon – Pune (India) Indian Rupee 400,000,000 100%

Turbo Gears India Ltd. Rajangaon – Pune (India) Indian Rupee 550,000,000 100%

Carraro Technologies India 
Pvt. Ltd.

Bombay (India) Indian Rupee 18,000,000 100%

Fon Sa Radomsko (Poland) Polish Zloty 7,058,220 90.667%

Carraro International Sa Luxembourg Euro 39,318,000 99.99%

Carraro Finance Ltd. Dublin (Ireland) Euro 100,000 100%

Carraro North America Inc. Calhoun – Georgia (USA) US Dollar 100 100%

O&K Antriebstechnik 
GmbH &Co. KG

Hattingen (Germany) Euro 2,045,168 100%

Carraro Qingdao 
Drive Systems Co. Ltd.

Shandong (China) Euro 1,050,000 100%

Carraro Qingdao 
Trading Co. Ltd.

Shandong (China) Euro 170,000 100%

Changes in the scope of consolidation:
Carraro Technologies India Pvt Ltd. 
This company was founded on 14 June 2006 and it has the purpose of carrying out 

planning, research and development in support of the industrial activities of the group.

Elettronica Santerno spa
On 22 June 2006 Carraro spa purchased the New Power 102 srl company with a 

share capital of Euro 10,000, subsequently, the company deliberated a share capital 
increase of Euro 2.49 million. This increase was subscribed by Carraro spa (Euro 
1.665 million) and by Fincasalfiumanese spa (Euro 0.825 million). On 30 June 2006 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

59

an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting deliberated the transformation of the compa-
ny into a spa company and the variation in its company name to Elettronica Santerno 
spa. The company has, with effect on 1 July 2006, purchased Fincasalfiumanese 
spa, the company branch related to the production of electronic control and power 
systems (see paragraph 4 below).

Stm srl
On 8 November 2006, Siap spa purchased two shares in Stm srl. This company, 

evaluated using the criteria for net shareholders equity up to 31 October 2006, was 
consolidated using the integral method with effect on 1 November 2006.

Carraro Finance Ltd.
A Company with head office in Dublin Ireland, has been incorporated on 22 December 

2006 and held by Carraro International for the purpose to support the parent company 
in carrying out financial and treasury international operations for the Group.

The following equity investments have been excluded from the scope of consoli-
dation:

Company name Parent company Registered 

offices
Currency Nominal value

Share capital
Interest 
holding

Carraro PNH 
Components India Ltd.

Carraro India Ltd. Bombay 
(India)

Indian 
Rupee

10,000,200 99.998%

Carraro Korea Ltd. Carraro 
International Sa

Ulsan 
(Korea)

South 
Korean Won

3,000,000,000 100%

Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. is a dormant company, whose only balance 
sheet item is a land for industrial use and its exclusion from the consolidation area 
is not significant for financial statements presentation.

Carraro Korea Ltd. was placed in liquidation during 2004 and is currently dor-
mant. The final closure is foreseen during 2007.

3. CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Consolidation standards
The balances are consolidated on a line-by-line basis, meaning that the entire 

amount of the assets, liabilities, costs and revenues of the individual companies are 
consolidated, regardless of the entity of the interests held.

For the purposes of consolidating the foreign subsidiaries, the balance sheet and 
income statement schedules specially prepared according to the layout of the schedules 
adopted by the parent company and compiled in accordance with accounting policies 
common with those applied by Carraro spa, were used. Where necessary, in order to 
align the period end dates of the foreign companies, specific interim financial state-



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

60

ments were drawn up using the same criteria adopted for the period end statements.
The book value of the consolidated equity investments, held by Carraro spa or by 

other companies subject to consolidation, is eliminated against the related portion 
of shareholders’ equity of the subsidiary companies.

The portions of shareholders’ equity and net results pertaining to minority share-
holders are disclosed respectively in the consolidated balance sheet and the consoli-
dated income statement. Significant transactions between consolidated companies, 
and accordingly the related receivables, payables, costs and revenues, as well as un-
realised gains from transactions between Group companies, have been eliminated.

The translation into Euro of the financial statements expressed in foreign currency, 
is carried out by adopting the period end exchange rate for assets and liabilities, his-
toric exchange rates for the equity accounts and the average rates for the period for 
the income statement. Any exchange differences originating from this method are 
stated in a specific equity item called Translation difference reserve.

The exchange rates applied for the translation of the foreign currency financial 
statements are the following:

Company Currency  Average exchange 
rate for 2006

Exchange rate
as of 1 Dec 2006

Carraro India Ltd. Indian Rupee 56.9247137 58.2975

Turbo Gears India Ltd. Indian Rupee 56.9247137 58.2975

Carraro Technologies India Pvt. Ltd. Indian Rupee 56.9247137 58.2975

Fon Sa Polish Zloty 3.8963318 3.831

Carraro North America Inc. US Dollar 1.2558358 1.317

Carraro Qingdao Drive Systems Co. Ltd. Chinese Renminbi 10.0109755 10.2793

Carraro Qingdao Trading Co. Ltd. Chinese Renminbi 10.0109755 10.2793

Carraro Argentina Sa Argentine Peso 3.8609622 4.04505

3.2 Discretional evaluations and relevant accounting estimates
Discretional evaluations
In the application of the accounting principles of the Group, the directors have 

not made decisions based on discretional evaluations (excluding those which in-
volve estimates) with significant effect on the values in the balance sheet besides 
those indicated in the section Accounting standards and evaluation criteria in ref-
erence to the purchase of stakes after having gained control.

Estimates and hypotheses
Below, the key hypotheses are given concerning the future and to other sources of 

uncertainty in the estimates related to the closing of the financial statements which 
could bring about significant changes in the values of assets and liabilities within 
the next fiscal year.
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Losses of value due to goodwill
Goodwill is submitted to an impairment assessment: this analysis requires an 

estimate of the value in use of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill is 
attributed, based on an estimate of the financial flows expected from unit and its 
discounting process on the basis of an appropriate discount rate. At 31 December 
2006, the accounting value of goodwill is Euro 24.879 million (2005: Euro 3.00 
million). Further information is provided in note 7.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recorded in compliance to ias 12 and they include those 

related to accumulated fiscal losses, in the measure where these losses could prob-
ably turn into future tax benefits because they could be used to offset temporary 
differences. A significant discretionary evaluation is required of directors to deter-
mine the amount of the deferred tax assets which can be accounted for. They have 
to estimate timing and value of future tax benefits along with a planning strategy 
for future taxes. The book value of deferred tax assets listed at 31 December 2006 
are equal to Euro 12.074 million (2005: Euro 12.695 million) while for tax losses 
it wasn’t deemed necessary to record the deferred tax assets at 31 December 2006 
which are equal to Euro 8.68 million (2005: Euro 9.32 million). Further informa-
tion is provided note 11.

Pension funds and retirement benefits 
The costs of pension funds and retirement benefits are calculated by means of 

actuarial evaluations. Actuarial evaluation requires the elaboration of hypotheses 
about discount rates, yield rates of utilization expected, future salary increases, mor-
tality rates and the future increases in pensions. Because of the long term nature of 
these plans, these estimates are subject to a significant degree of uncertainty. Net 
liabilities for employees at 31 December 2006 was equal to Euro 24.035 million 
(2005: Euro 22.411 million). Further details are given in note 19.

Development costs
Development costs are capitalized on the basis of the following accounting stand-

ards. To determine the costs to be capitalized, the directors must elaborate hy-
potheses concerning the cash-flow of future receivables expected from investments 
along with the discount rates to be applied and the period for the appearance of 
the benefits expected. At 31 December 2006, the best estimate of book value of the 
capitalized development costs equalled Euro 3.323 million (2005: Euro 2.799 mil-
lion) (see note 7).
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3.3 Accounting standards and evaluation criteria
The evaluation criteria and accounting standards are in line with those adopted 

for the preparation of the yearly consolidated financial statements at 31 December 
2005 with the exception of the adoption of the following mandatory amendments 
with effect at 1 January 2006:

› ias 39, financial instruments: recording and evaluation – amendment 
related to financial guarantee contracts – which have modified the ap-
plication of ias 39 so to include the financial guarantee contracts issued. The 
amendment concerns the treatment of financial guarantee contracts issued by 
the issuer. According to the modified ias 39, financial guarantee contracts are 
initially seen at fair value and they are generally evaluated at the greatest value 
to be determined in compliance to ias 37 Amortization, liabilities and poten-
tial business and to the net value initially recorded if relevant to the cumulative 
amortization in compliance to ias 18 Revenues;

› ias 39, amendments concerning the hedges for foreseen infra-group 
transactions – which modified ias 39 in order to qualify the risks in foreign 
currency exchange related to a specific infra-group transaction which is deemed 
to be highly probable as an hedged element within a general hedge of financial 
flows on the condition that the operation is in a currency other that the one 
used by the company involved in the operation with the risk of impact on its 
balance sheet;

› ias 39, amendment concerning the fair value option – this has limited 
the use of this option for the designation of any financial asset or liability to be 
evaluated at fair value in the income statement.

› ifric 4, to determine whether a contact agreement includes a leasing 
– This interpretation adopted by the E.U. in November 2005 (E.U. Regulation 
no. 1910-2005), states that for agreements not in the legal form of a leasing 
but containing in any case a form of leasing are to be in any case classified as a 
financial or operational leasing in compliance to ias 17;

› ias 19, benefits to employees – the Group has adopted some amendments 
and has broadened where necessary the information requested. There is no 
impact in terms of recording and evaluation because the group hasn’t applied 
the new option which allows the registration of actuarial profits and losses in a 
shareholders equity reserve;

› ias 21, currency exchange rate differences – The Group has assimilat-
ed the changes in this standard. As a consequence, all currency exchange rate 
differences deriving from a monetary element constituting part of a net in-
vestment in a foreign operation is recorded in the Shareholders Equity item 
as a distinct item of shareholders equity, independently of the currency of the 
monetary element. This change hasn’t produced any significant effects at 31 
December 2006 and at 31 December 2005.
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The implementation of these amendments didn’t have any effect on economic 
results or on the financial position of the Group.

The following standards and interpretations in force as from 2006 are deemed 
not to be applicable to the Group:

ifrs 6 – evaluation of mineral resources
ifric 5 – rights for the presentation and return of environmental funds
ifric 6 – rejects of electrical and electronic materials

Business combinations and Goodwill 
Business combinations are posted according to the purchase method. This re-

quires posting at equal value the recognizable assets (including intangible assets 
previously not recognised) and recognizable liabilities (including potential liabili-
ties and excluding future restructuring) of the acquired company.

The goodwill acquired through company merger is initially calculated at the cost 
represented by the merger cost surplus with respect to the share attributable to 
the Group of the net fair value of assets, liabilities and potential liabilities (of the 
acquired company). In order to analysis of appropriateness, goodwill acquired in 
a merger is allocated, as of the date of acquisition, to the Group individual cash 
generating units or to group of cash generating units, which would benefit from the 
synergies of the merger, regardless of the fact that other Group assets or liabilities 
are allocated to such units or group of units. Each unit or group of units to which 
the goodwill is allocated: 

› represents the lowest level, within the Group, to which the goodwill is moni-
tored for internal management purposes;

› is not larger than the business segments identified on the basis of the primary 
or secondary schedule of presentation of the segment reporting, determined on 
the basis of the indications by ias 14, segment reporting.

When the goodwill represents part of a cash generating unit (group of cash gen-
erating units) and part of that unit internal asset is transferred, the goodwill as-
sociated with the transferred asset is included in the asset book value in order to 
calculate profit or loss generated by the transfer. Goodwill transferred in such cases 
is calculated on the basis of the values relative to the asset transferred and portion 
of the unit maintained in existence.

When the transfer concerns a subsidiary company, the difference between trans-
fer price and net equity plus the differences of accumulated translations and non-
amortised goodwill is posted in the income statement.

Acquisition of additional shares after achieving control 
Ifrs 3 is applicable only to transactions which carry acquisition of control, by the 

acquiring entity, over the acquired company assets. Therefore, acquisition of ad-
ditional shares of holdings after achieving control is not specifically disciplined by 
the ifrs 3.
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Lacking an accounting handling specified by the ias / ifrs, the ias 8, paragraphs 
10 and subsequent, requires that the Management utilises its technical directional-
ity in establishing and applying a relevant and reliable accounting handling..

Considering:
› the fact that the theory of the “parent company approach” requires for transac-

tions in which control is acquired, of posting as goodwill the positive difference 
between the cost sustained by the purchaser and its share of ownership in the 
net value of assets and liabilities clearly identifiable as belonging to the acquired 
company calculated at fair value (current value) as of the acquisition date;

› the specific limitation placed by the ifrs 3 to additional appreciation of assets 
and liabilities of the controlled company after the date of acquisition.

In acquiring additional minority shareholding, the goodwill is defined as the dif-
ference between the price paid and book value of the minority shareholding.

Such method is applied consistently with all the acquisitions of additional share-
holdings after achieving control.

Ifrs 27 does not discipline the accounting handling of share transfers that do 
not involve loss of controlling interest. Consistent with the above approach for the 
acquisition of minority shareholdings, loss or profit from dilution due to transfer of 
share holding is posted in the income statement. 

The accounting policies and standards for the most significant items are illus-
trated below.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and machinery
Property, plant and machinery are stated at historic cost, less the related accu-

mulated depreciation and cumulative losses in value. This cost includes the costs 
for the replacement of parts of machinery and plant at the time they are incurred if 
compliant with the reporting standards. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis with reference to the estimated 
useful life of the asset. The book value of plant and machinery is subject to assess-
ment so as to detect any losses in value when events or changes indicate that the 
book value might not be recoverable. 

Tangible assets are eliminated from the financial statements at the time of sale or 
when future economic benefits expected from their use or disposal do not exist. Any 
losses or gains (calculated as the difference between the net income on the sale and 
the book value) are included in the income statement during the year of the afore-
mentioned elimination. 

The residual value of the asset, the useful life and the methods applied are re-
viewed annually and adjusted, if necessary, at the end of each accounting period.

The depreciation is calculated, on a straight-line basis, on the cost of the assets 
net of the related residual values, in relation to their estimated useful life applying 
the following rates to newly acquired assets:
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% 

Industrial land –

Industrial buildings 2 – 5

Plant 4 – 5 

Machinery 5.56 – 6.67

Equipment 6.67 – 25

Dies and models 12.50

Furniture and furnishings 6.67

Office machines 12.50 – 20

Motor vehicles 6.67 – 12.50

Land is not depreciated. Assets held in relation to financial lease agreements are 
depreciated on the basis of their estimated useful life, on a consistent basis with 
owned assets.

Real estate property investments
Property investments are stated at historic cost, less the related accumulated de-

preciation and cumulative losses in value.

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are recorded in the accounts only if they are identifiable, 

can be checked and it is foreseen that they will generate future economic benefits 
and their cost can be determined reliably.

Intangible fixed assets with a specified duration are stated at purchase or produc-
tion cost, net of amortization and accumulated losses in value.

The amortization is parameterised to the period of their estimated useful life and 
starts when the asset is available for use.

Goodwill
Goodwill is represented by the surplus of the purchase cost versus the equity share 

of the purchaser compared with the fair value referring to the identifiable net values 
of assets and liabilities of the entity acquired. After initial recognition, the goodwill 
is stated at cost, less any cumulative losses in value.

The goodwill is subject to an impairment test on an annual basis, to identify any 
permanent decrease in its value. In order to perform a correct fair value analysis, the 
goodwill is allocated to each one of the units generating financial flows which will 
benefit from the effects deriving from the acquisition.

Research and development costs
Research and development costs are charged to the income statement when in-

curred, according to ias 38.
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Again, in compliance with ias 38, the development costs relating to specific 
projects are recorded among the assets only if all the following conditions are ful-
filled:

› the asset can be identified;
› it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits;
› the costs for developing the asset can be reliably gauged.
These intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their related 

useful lives.

Trademarks and licences
Trademarks and licences are stated at cost, net of amortization and accumulated 

losses in value. The cost is amortized over the shorter between contractual duration 
and their defined useful life.

Software
The costs of software licences, inclusive of related charges, are capitalized and 

recorded in the financial statements net of amortization and any accumulated losses 
in value.

Decrease in value (Impairment)
In the presence of specific warnings of a decrease in value, tangible and intangible 

fixed assets are subject to an impairment test, estimating the recoverable value of 
the assets and comparing it with the related net book value. The recoverable value 
is the greater between the fair value of an asset net of sales costs and its value in use, 
and is determined for each individual asset except when said asset does not generate 
financial flows which are fully independent from those generated by other assets.

If the recoverable value is lower than the book value, the latter is consequently 
reduced. This reduction represents a decrease in value, which is charged to income 
statement.If there is no longer any reason for a writedown previously booked to be 
maintained, the book value is reinstated to the new value deriving from the estimate, 
under the restriction that this value does not exceed the net book value which the 
asset would have had if no writedown had ever been made. The value writeback is 
also recorded in the income statement.

The impairment test is carried out annually in the event of intangible fixed assets 
with an unspecified useful life and intangible assets in progress.

Equity investments in associated companies
An associated company is a company where the Group is able to exercise signifi-

cant influence, but not control or joint control, via the equity investment, over the 
financial and operating policies of the investee company.

The economic results and the assets and liabilities of the associated companies are 
recorded in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method, except in 
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the cases when they are classified as held for sale.

Equity investments in other companies and other securities
In accordance with the matters anticipated by standards ias 39 and 32, equity 

investments in companies other than subsidiary and associated companies are clas-
sified as financial assets available for sale and are valued at fair value, except in cases 
where it is not possible to determine the market price or the fair value: in such cases, 
the cost method is adopted.

Gains and losses deriving from the value adjustments are classified in a specific 
shareholders’ equity reserve.

In the presence of permanent losses in value or in the event of sale, the gains and 
losses recorded up until that moment under shareholders’ equity, are recorded in 
the income statement.

Financial assets
Ias 39 defines the following types of financial instruments: financial assets at fair 

value with changes booked to the income statement, loans and receivables, invest-
ments held until maturity and assets available for sale. Initially, all the financial as-
sets are recorded at fair value, increased by any related charges in the event of assets 
other than those at fair value in the income statement. The Group establishes the 
classification of its financial assets after the initial registration and, where appropri-
ate and permitted, reviews this classification at the end of each accounting period.

All the standardized purchases and sales (regular way) of financial assets are re-
corded as of the date of transaction, or the date when the Group undertakes the 
commitment to acquire the asset. By standardized purchases and sales, we mean all 
the purchase/sale transactions on financial assets which require the handing over of 
the asset in the period generally anticipated by the regulations and by the practices 
of the market on which it is traded.

Financial assets at fair value with changes booked to the income statement
This category includes the financial assets held for dealing purposes, or all the as-

sets acquired for the purpose of sale over the short-term. The derivatives are classi-
fied as financial instruments held for dealing purposes unless they are designated as 
effective hedging instruments. Gains and losses on assets held for dealing purposes 
are recorded in the income statement.

Investments held up to maturity
Financial assets which are not derivative instruments and which are characterized 

by payments or fixed or determinable maturities are classified as “investments held 
to maturity” when the Group has the intention and the ability to maintain them in 
the portfolio until maturity. The financial assets which the Group decides to keep in 
the portfolio for an indefinite period do not fall within this category. Other long-term 
financial investments which are held to maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently 
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valued using the amortized cost method. This cost is calculated as the value initially 
recorded less the repayment of the capital instalments, plus or less the amortization 
accumulated using the effective interest rate method of any difference between the 
value initially recorded and the amount on maturity. This calculation includes the 
commission or points paid between the parties which form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, the transaction costs and other premiums or discounts. Gains 
and losses concerning investments valued at amortized cost are recorded in the in-
come statement at the time the investment is eliminated from the books or on mani-
festation of a decrease in value, as well as by means of the amortization process.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determi-

nable payments which are not listed on an active market. These assets are stated on 
the basis of amortized cost using the effective discount rate. The gains and losses 
are recorded in the income statement when the loans and receivables are eliminated 
from the books or on manifestation of a loss in value, as well as by means of the am-
ortization process.

Financial assets available for sale
Financial assets available for sale are those financial assets, excluding derivative 

financial instruments, which have been designated as such or which are not classi-
fied in any of the other three previous categories. After the initial statement at cost, 
the financial assets held for sale are valued at fair value and the gains and losses are 
recorded in a separate shareholders’ equity item until the assets have been elimi-
nated from the books or until it is assessed they have undergone a loss in value; the 
gains and losses accumulated up to that moment under the shareholders’ equity are 
then charged to the income statement. 

In the event of securities widely dealt on organized markets, the fair value is deter-
mined by making reference to the stock market listing struck at the end of trading as 
of the year end date. In relation to investments which do not have an active market, 
the fair value is determined by means of valuation techniques based on prices of 
recent transactions between independent parties; the current market value of an 
essentially similar instrument; the analysis of the discounted back financial flows; 
and pricing models of the options.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of average purchase or production cost for 

the period and market value. Production cost includes materials, labour, and direct 
and indirect manufacturing costs. Obsolete or slow-moving inventories are suitably 
written down.
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Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at estimated realizable value. This value 

corresponds with the nominal value adjusted by the allowance for doubtful receiva-
bles provided specifically, destined to cover both amounts that are already unre-
coverable and those which have not yet emerged, but are probable, and which are 
inherent to receivable balances recorded in the financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents
Liquid funds and equivalents include cash on hand and demand deposits and 

investments maturing within three months of the date of acquisition.

Loans and bonds
Loans are initially stated at the cost represented by the fair value of the balance re-

ceived net of the related loan acquisition costs. After the initial statement, the loans 
are stated on the basis of amortized cost calculated by means of the application of 
the effective interest rate. The amortized cost is calculated taking into account the 
issue costs and any discounts or premiums expected at the time of settlement.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, if applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group of 

similar financial assets) is cancelled from the financial statements when:
› the rights to receive the financial flows from the asset have been discharged;
› the Group maintains the right to receive financial flows from the asset, but has 

undertaken the contractual commitment to pay them in full and without delay 
to a third party; 

› the Group has transferred the right to receive financial flows from the assets 
and (a) has essentially transferred all the risks and benefits of the ownership of 
the financial assets or (b) has not transferred or has essentially withheld all the 
risks and benefits of the assets, but has transferred control of the same.

In the cases where the Group has transferred the rights to receive financial flows 
from an asset and has not essentially transferred or withheld all the risks and ben-
efits or has not lost control over the same, the asset is recorded in the Group’s finan-
cial statements to the extent of its residual involvement in said asset. The residual 
involvement which takes on the form of a guarantee on the asset transferred, is val-
ued at the lower between the initial book value of the asset and the maximum value 
of the amount which the Group could be obliged to pay over. 

In the cases where the residual involvement takes on the form of an option issued 
and/or acquired on the asset transferred (including the options settled in cash or 
similar), the extent of the Group’s involvement corresponds with the amount of the 
asset transferred which the Group could re-acquire; nevertheless, in the case of a put 
option issued on an asset gauged at fair value (including the options settled in cash 
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or by means of similar provisions), the extent of the Group’s residual involvement is 
limited to the lower between the fair value of the transferred asset and the exercising 
price of this option.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is cancelled from the financial statements when the underly-

ing obligation is discharged, or cancelled or fulfilled.
In the cases where an existing financial liability is replaced by another of the same 

lender, under essentially different conditions, or the conditions of an existing liabil-
ity are essentially changed, this change or amendment is treated as a cancellation 
from the books of the original liability and the recording of a new liability; any dif-
ferences between the book values are booked to the income statement.

Value losses on financial assets
The Group assesses if a financial asset or group of financial assets has undergone 

a loss in value at the end of each accounting period.

Assets valued on the basis of amortized cost
If objective indication exists that a loan or receivable recorded at amortized cost 

has suffered a loss in value, the amount of the loss is gauged as the difference be-
tween the book value of the asset and the current value of the estimated future fi-
nancial flows (excluding future receivable losses not yet incurred) discounted to the 
original effective interest rate of the financial asset (or rather the effective interest 
rate calculated as of the initial registration date). The book value of the asset is re-
duced both directly and via the use of a provision. The amount of the loss will be 
booked to the income statement.

The Group first of all assesses the existence of objective indications of a loss in 
value at individual level, for the financial assets which are individually significant, 
and therefore at individual or collective level for the financial assets which are not. 
In the absence of objective indications of a loss in value for financial assets valued 
individually, whether it is significant or otherwise, this asset is included within a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk features and this group is subject 
to assessment for value loss in a collective manner. The assets valued at individual 
level, in relation to which a loss in value is detected or continues to be detected, will 
not be included in a collective valuation.

If, in a subsequent accounting period, the entity of the loss in value decreases and 
this reduction can be objectively traced back to an event which took place after the 
detection of the loss in value, the previously written down value is reinstated. Any 
subsequent value write backs are recorded in the income statement, to the extent 
that the book value of the asset does not exceed the amortized cost as of the date of 
writeback.
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Assets stated at cost 
If objective indication exists of the loss in value of a unlisted instrument repre-

sentative of capital which is not recorded at fair value because its fair value cannot be 
measured reliably, or of a derivative instrument which is linked to this participative 
instrument and must be settled by means of the consignment of this instrument, the 
amount of the loss due to reduction in value is given by the difference between the 
book value of the asset and the current value of expected future financial flows and 
discounted at the current market rate for a similar financial asset. 

Financial assets available for sale
In the event of the loss in value of a financial asset available for sale, a value equal 

to the difference between its cost (net of the repayment of the capital and the amorti-
zation) and its current fair value, net of any losses in value previously recorded in the 
income statement, is transferred from shareholders’ equity to the income statement. 
The value write backs relating to instruments participating in capital classified as 
available for sale, are not recorded in the income statement. Value write backs relat-
ing to debt instruments are recorded in the income statement if the increase in the 
fair value of the instrument can be objectively traced back to an event which took 
place after the loss was booked to the income statement. 

Allowances and provisions
Provisions for risks and charges
Provisions for risks and charges are made when the Group must meet a current 

obligation (legal or implicit) deriving from a past event, a sacrifice in terms of re-
sources in order to deal with this obligation is probable and it is possible to make a 
reliable estimate of its extent. When the Group considers that a provision for risks 
and charges will be partly or fully reimbursed, for example in the case of risks cov-
ered by insurance policies, the indemnity is recorded separately among the assets 
if, and only if, it is practically certain. In this case, the cost of the possible related 
provisions, net of the amount recorded for the indemnity, is presented in the income 
statement. If the effect of discounting back the value of the money is significant, the 
provisions are discounted back using the pre-tax discount rate which reflects, where 
appropriate, the specific risks of the liabilities. When the discounting back is carried 
out, the increase of the provision due to the passage of time is recorded as financial 
expense.

Employee and similar benefits
According to ias 19, employee benefits to be paid out subsequent to the termina-

tion of the employment relationship and other long-term benefits (including therein 
the Employee Leaving Indemnity in force in Italy) are subject to actuarial valuations 
which have to take into account a series of variables (such as mortality, the provision 
for future salary changes, the anticipated rate of inflation, etc.).
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Following this method, the liability recorded in the financial statements emerges 
as being representative of the current value of the obligation, net of any assets serving 
the plans, adjusted for any actuarial losses or gains not recorded in the accounts.

The actuarial gains and losses are recorded directly in the income statement, with-
out availing of the corridor approach.

Revenue recognition
Sales of goods are recorded when the goods are shipped and the Company has 

transferred the significant benefits and risks associated with the ownership of the 
goods to the purchaser.

Revenues for services are stated with reference to the stage of completion.
Interest income is recorded on an accruals basis, with reference to the amount 

financed and the effective interest rate applicable, which represents the rate that 
discounts future collections estimated over the expected life of the financial asset so 
as to take them back to the book value of said asset.

Revenues from dividends are recorded when the right to collection arises, which 
normally corresponds with the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting authorizing 
the distribution of the dividends. The dividends distributed are recognized as a pay-
able at the time of the distribution resolution.

Public grants
Public grants are recorded when reasonable certainty exists that they will be re-

ceived and all the related conditions are satisfied. When the grants are associated 
with cost elements, they are recorded as revenues, but they are systematically spread 
over the accounting periods so that they are commensurate to the costs which they 
intend to offset. In the event that the grant is linked to an asset, the fair value is 
suspended among the long-term liabilities and the release to the income statement 
takes place progressively over the expected useful life of the asset concerned on a 
straight-line basis.

Financial charges
Financial expense is recorded in the income statement in compliance with the 

accruals principle.

Taxation
Taxation for the year represents the sum total of the current and deferred taxes.

Current taxes
Current income taxes have been provided for on the basis of an estimate of the 

taxable income for the consolidated companies, in accordance with the provisions 
issued or essentially issued as of the balance sheet date and taking into account any 
applicable exemptions.
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Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the taxable timing differences ex-

isting between the book value of assets and liabilities and their value for tax pur-
poses; they are classified under non-current assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets are provided for only to the extent that adequate future tax-
able amounts will probably exist, against which this asset balance can be used.

The value of the deferred tax assets which can be recorded in the financial state-
ments, is subject to an annual assessment and is written down to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient income for tax purposes will be available 
in the future so as to permit all or part of this credit to be used. Unrecognized 
deferred tax assets are reviewed annually as of the balance sheet date and are re-
corded to the extent that it has become probable that income for tax purposes is 
sufficient for permitting these deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined with reference to tax rates 
which are expected to be applied in the period in which these deferrals will take 
place, taking into account the rates in force or those whose subsequent issue is 
known of.

Income taxes relating to items recorded directly under shareholders’ equity, are 
charged directly against shareholders’ equity and not to the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legal right exists to offset the as-
sets for current taxes with liabilities for current assets and the deferred taxes refer 
to the same fiscal entity and the same tax authority.

Value added tax
Revenues, costs and assets are stated net of value added tax, except in the follow-

ing cases:
› this tax applied to the purchase of goods or services emerges as non-deductible, 

in which case it is stated as part of the purchase cost of the asset or part of the 
cost item recorded in the income statement; 

› it refers to trade receivables and payables recorded, including the value of the 
tax.

Earnings per share
The basic earning per share is calculated by dividing the net income for the period 

attributable to the shareholders holding ordinary shares of the Parent Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period.

The diluted earning per share is obtained by means of the adjustment of the 
weighted average of the shares in circulation, so as to take into account all the po-
tential ordinary shares with a diluting effect.
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Translation of foreign currency balances
Reporting currency
The Group companies draw up their own financial statements in the legal ten-

der used in the individual countries. The Company’s reporting currency is the Euro 
which represents the currency which the statutory financial statements are drawn 
up and published in.

Accounting transactions and entries
The transactions carried out in foreign currency are initially recorded using the 

exchange rate prevailing as of the transaction date. As of the year end date, the mon-
etary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are re-translated on the 
basis of the exchange rate in force as of that date.

Non-monetary foreign currency items valued at historic cost, are translated using 
the exchange rate in force as of the date of the transaction.

Non-monetary items stated at fair value are translated using the exchange rate in 
force as of the date of determination of the value.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions
The Carraro Group’s strategy for the management of financial risks complies with 

the corporate objectives defined within the guidelines (so-called “policies”) approved 
by Carraro spa’s Board of Directors; specifically, it aims to minimize the interest and 
exchange rate risks and optimize the cost of the debt.

The management of these risks is carried out in observance of prudent principles 
and on a consistent basis with the best market practices and all the risk manage-
ment transactions are handled at central level.

The main objectives indicated by the policy are as follows:

a. exchange rate risk:
1.  Hedge all the transactions, both trade and financial, from the fluctuation risk. 
2. Observe, as far as is possible, a “currency balance” logic when hedging the risk, 

favouring the off-setting between the foreign currency revenues and costs and 
the foreign currency receivables and payables, so as to activate the related hedge 
solely for the excess balance not offset.

3. Do not permit the use or holding of derivative and similar instruments solely 
for trading purposes.

4. Permit the use of just instruments traded on organized markets, for hedging 
transactions.

B. interest rate risks:
1.  Hedge financial assets and liabilities from the risk of changes in interest rates.
2. Observe, when hedging the risk, the general criteria of balance between invest-

ments and uses defined for the Group by Carraro spa’s Board of Directors at the 
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time of approval of the long-term plans and the budget (floating rate and fixed 
rate portion, short-term and medium/long-term portion.

3. Permit the use of just instruments traded on organized markets, for hedging 
transactions.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency agree-
ments and swaps on interest rates hedging the risks deriving mainly from fluctua-
tions in interest and exchange rates. These derivative financial instruments are ini-
tially stated at fair value as of the date they were stipulated; subsequently, this fair 
value is periodically re-gauged. They are recorded as assets when the fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when it is negative.

Any gains or losses emerging from changes in the fair value of derivatives not 
suitable for hedge accounting, are charged directly to the income statement during 
the accounting period.

The fair value of the forward currency agreements is determined with reference 
to the current forward exchange rates for contracts with a similar maturity profile. 
The fair value of the swap agreements on interest rates is determined with reference 
to the market value for similar instruments.

For hedge accounting purposes, the hedges are classified as:
› fair value hedges, if they hedge the risk of change in the fair value of an underly-

ing asset or liability;
› cash flow hedges, if they hedge the risk of change in the financial flows deriving 

from existing assets and liabilities or from future transactions;
› hedges of a net investment in a foreign body (net investment hedge).

A hedging transaction covering the exchange risk relating to an irrevocable com-
mitment is recorded as a hedge of financial flows.

When implementing a hedging transaction, the Group formally fixes and docu-
ments the hedging relationship, which it intends to apply the hedge accounting to, 
its objectives when handling the risk and the strategy pursued. The documentation 
includes the identification of the hedging instrument, of the element of the trans-
action subject the hedge, of the nature of the risk and of the methods by means of 
which the entity intends to assess the efficacy of the hedge in compensating the 
exposure to the changes in the fair value of the element hedged or of the financial 
flows attributable to the hedged risk.

It is expected that these hedges are highly effective in compensating the exposure 
of the element hedged to changes in the fair value or of the financial flows attribut-
able to the hedged risk; the assessment of the fact that these hedges have effectively 
demonstrated themselves to be highly effective, is carried out on an on-going basis 
during the accounting periods during which they were designated.

The transactions which satisfy the criteria for hedge accounting are stated as 
follows:
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Fair value hedges
The Group resorts to transactions hedging the fair value against the exposure to 

changes in the fair value of balance sheet asset and liabilities or of a off-balance sheet 
irrevocable commitment, as well as an identified part of said asset, liability or irrevo-
cable commitment, attributable to a particular risk, which could have an impact on 
the income statement. As far as the fair value hedges are concerned, the book value 
of the element being hedged is adjusted to reflect the gains and losses attributable 
to the risk subject to hedge, the derivative instrument is re-determined at fair value 
and the gains and losses of both are booked to the income statement.

With regards to fair value hedges referring to elements recorded on the basis of 
amortized cost, the adjustment of the book value is amortized in the income state-
ment over the period lacking until maturity. Any adjustments to the book value of a 
hedged financial instrument which the effective interest rate method is applied to, 
are amortized in the income statement.

The amortization can start just as soon as an adjustment exists but not beyond 
the date when the hedged element ceases to be adjusted due to the changes in its fair 
value attributable to the hedged risk.

When an unrecorded irrevocable commitment is designated as an element sub-
ject to hedge, the subsequent cumulative changes in its fair value attributable to the 
hedged risk are recorded as assets or liabilities and the corresponding gains and 
losses are booked to the income statement. The changes in the fair value of a hedging 
instrument are also booked to the income statement.

An instrument is no longer recorded as a fair value hedging contract when it ma-
tures or is sold, discharged or exercised, the hedge no longer meets the requirements 
for hedge accounting purposes, or when the Group revokes the designation. Any ad-
justments to the book value of a financial instrument subject to hedge for which the 
effective interest rate method is used, are amortized in the income statement. The 
amortization can start just as soon as an adjustment is ascertained but not beyond 
the date when the hedged element ceases to be adjusted due to the changes in its fair 
value attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges are transactions hedging the risk of fluctuations in financial 

flows attributable to a particular risk, associated with a recorded asset or liability 
or with a highly probable future transaction which could influence the economic 
result. The gains and losses deriving from the hedging instrument are booked to 
shareholders’ equity for the efficient part, while the remaining part (not efficient) is 
booked to the income statement.

The gain or loss booked to shareholders’ equity is reclassified in the income state-
ment during the period when the transaction being covered influences the income 
statement (for example: when the financial income or expense is recorded or when 
an anticipated sale or purchase takes place). When the element being hedged is the 
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cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts booked to shareholders’ equity 
are transferred to the initial book value of the asset or liability.

If the transaction is expected not to take place, the amounts initially booked to 
the shareholders’ equity are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging 
instrument matures or is sold, cancelled or exercised without being replaced, or if 
its designation as a hedge is revoked, the amounts previously charged to the share-
holders’ equity remain recorded therein until the expected transaction takes place. 
If it is believed that this will no longer take place, the amounts are transferred to the 
income statement.

Hedging of a net investment in a foreign body
The hedges of a net investment in a foreign body, including hedges of a mon-

etary item recorded as part of a net investment, are recorded on a similar basis to 
the hedges of the financial flows. The gains or losses of the hedging instrument are 
booked directly to the shareholders’ equity for the efficient part, while the remain-
ing part (not efficient) is booked to the income statement. On disposal of the foreign 
asset, the cumulative value of these gains or losses booked to shareholders’ equity is 
transferred to the income statement.

Intercompany transactions
In accordance with the Consob Recommendations dated 20 February 1997 

(dac/97001574) and 27 February 1998 (dac/98015375), shareholders are informed 
that:

a. transactions with Group companies and related parties which have taken place 
during the period, have given rise to trade, financial or consultancy-related 
dealings and have been performed, on an arms’-length basis, in the economic 
interests of the individual companies involved in the transactions;

b. no atypical or unusual transactions have been entered into with respect to nor-
mal business operations and the interest rates and conditions applied (lending 
and borrowing) to financial transactions between the various companies are in 
line with market conditions.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION 
WHICH ARE NOT YET APPLICABLE
As requested by ias 8 (Accounting standards, changes in the accounting estimates 

and errors) indication is made below of the possible impacts of the new standards 
or the new interpretations on the consolidated financial statements with regard to 
initial application. 

The ifrs in force subsequent to 31 December 2006 are indicated and briefly il-
lustrated below.
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Ifrs 7 – Financial instruments: supplementary information
This standard, adopted by the European Union in January 2006 (EC Regulation 

No. 108/2006) acknowledges the section of the Supplementary Information (disclo-
sures) contained in ias 32 (Financial instruments: financial statement exposure and 
supplementary information) also with amendments and integrations; consequently, 
ias 32 changes it title to “Financial instruments: financial statement exposure”. The 
Group believes that ifrs 7, applicable as from 1 January 2007, will not have reper-
cussions on the consolidated financial statements. 

Amendment to Ias 1 – Presentation of the financial statement:
additional information regarding the capital.
Such amendment to ias 1, introduces the requirements regarding information to 

supply about the capital of a company. The Company believes that the amendment, 
applicable as of 1 January 2007, will not have repercussion on the budget.

Ifrs 8 – Operating segments.
On 30 November 2006, iasb has issued the accounting standard ifrs 8 “Oper-

ating segments”, which will be applicable as of 1 January 2009 as replacement of 
ias 14 “segment reporting”. The new accounting standard requires from the com-
pany to base information reported in the segment reporting on elements which the 
management utilises to make their operating decision, it requires identification of 
the operating segments based on internal reporting which is regularly reviewed by 
management with the objective of allocating resources to the various business seg-
ments and for the performance analysis. The company does not believe that such 
disclosure may have significant effects.

The following standards and interpretations issued in 2006 and effective for fu-
ture fiscal years are considered to be applicable to the Group:

ifric 7 – Reporting in hyper inflated economies
ifric 8 – ifrs 2 area of application
ifric 9 – Restating values of incorporated derivatives
ifric 10 – Mid year reporting and impairment test
ifric 11 – ifrs 2 infra-group share transactions
ifric 12 – Licensed services

4. COMPANIES MERGERS AND ACQUISITION OF MINORITY INTERESTS
4.1 Acquisition of Elettronica Santerno
On 22 June 2006 Carraro spa purchased the New Power 102 srl company with a 

share capital of Euro 10,000, subsequently the company deliberated a share capital 
increase of Euro 2.49 million. This increase was subscribed by Carraro spa (Euro 
1.665 million) and by Fincasalfiumanese spa (Euro 0.825 million). On 30 June 2006 
an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting deliberated the transformation of the compa-
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ny into a spa company and the variation in its company name to Elettronica Santerno 
spa. Effective 1 July 2006, the company has acquired from Fincasalfiumanese spa the 
company branch producing power and control electronic systems.

The assets and liabilities fair value identifiable in the company branch as of the 
date of acquisition is the following:

Fair Value recorded
at incorporation

Value
Book value

Property, plant and equipment. 846 846

Intangible fixed assets 251 251

Goodwill 2,889 2,900

Not representing equity investments 0 0

Inventories 3,526 3,527

Trade receivables 0 0

Financial assets and other receivables 85 85

7,597 7,609

Employee leaving indemnities 766 783

Reserves for risks and charges 35 35

Trade payables 0 0

Other payables 593 593

Financial liabilities and other payables 5,798 5,798

Deferred tax liabilities 5 0

7,197 7,209

NET BOOK VALUE 400 400

Goodwill paid at incorporation 2,889 2,900

Goodwill as per consolidation entries 911

– of which per capitalised charges 340

– of which per option for minority purchase 571

3,800 2,900

In the company merging operation, it has not been considered posting any fair 
value for the acquired intangible assets and not accounted for due to lack of objec-
tive elements in support of a reliable calculation.

Moreover, the most relevant element of the acquired business is identifiable in 
the know-how of the industrial activity carried out and previously lacking in the 
Group, such to be qualified as a new business unit. Such intangible element does not 
have the posting requirements as provided by ias 38.

The framework agreement with Casalfiumanese spa (Busi Group) provides in favour 
of Carraro spa a purchase option for 33% of Elettronica Santerno spa starting 1 June 
2009 and until 31 May 2011 and an option to sell in favour of Casalfiumanese spa for 
the same percentage starting 31 May 2011 and effective for the subsequent 30 days.

Evaluation of the option to sell has meant accounting for a goodwill of Euro 0.57 
million, of a debt payable to the Busi Group for Euro 1.40 million as well as elimina-
tion of Minority Equity.
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4.2 Acquisition of controlling interest in Stm Srl
On 8 November 2006, 2 additional shares of Stm srl capital have been purchased, 

thus bringing the shares held by the Group at 774,542 on a total of 1,549,080. There-
fore, Stm srl is consolidated through the line-by-line method starting 1 November 
2006.

The fair value of assets and liabilities identifiable as of the date of acquisition, 
coinciding with the book value, is the following:

Fair Value recorded at incorporation

Property, plant and equipment 7,380

Intangible fixed assets 16

Financial assets 2

Inventories 4,944

Trade and other receivables 5,935

Liquid funds 4

18,281

Employee leaving indemnities 859

Reserves for risks and charges 10

Deferred tax liabilities 439

Financial liabilities 2,516

Current trade and other payables 5,923

Amounts due for current taxes 1,241

10,988

NET BOOK VALUE 7,293

Goodwill paid at incorporation 0

Total cost of purchasing the 2 shares is Euro 500. There aren’t significant values 
emerging from the merger. From the date of acquisition, Stm srl has contributed 
Euro 0.080 million to the Group net profit.

If the merger had been made on 1 January 2006, the Group profit would have not 
changed because Stm srl result is already reflected in the holding net equity evalu-
ation; the consolidated revenues would have been Euro 676.31 million. Line-by-line 
consolidation has meant, among others, the positing of a share of net equity to be 
attributed to minority.

4.3 Acquisition of minority inertest in Carraro India Ltd.
On 12 September 2006 the acquisition of 49% of Carraro India Ltd. has been 

completed, thus bringing the shareholding to 100%. Against the acquisition it has 
been paid a cash amount of Euro 20.140 million, including accessory costs (Euro 
0.140 million). The net equity book value of the acquisition is Euro 2.061 million. 
The difference of Euro 18.079 million between the price paid and book value of the 
acquisition has been posted as goodwill.

Ba
la

nc
es

 in
 E

ur
o/

1.
0

0
0

s



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81

5. INFORMATION BY SECTOR OF ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHIC AREAS
The Group business is mainly organised in four industrial divisions (“business 

units”) which represent the Group entities aggregated according the main types of 
products. The other activities carried out by the Group are accessory and support 
the main ones.

The business units are structured as follows:
1. Drivelines & Drives, which groups the units assigned to the production of trans-

mission systems (axles and transmissions): Carraro spa excluding the former 
Agritalia plant, A.E. srl, O&K Antriebstechnik, Carraro Argentina, Fon, Car-
raro India, Carraro North America, Carraro Qingdao Drive Systems Co.

2. Components, which groups the units assigned to the production of axles and 
transmission components: Siap spa and Turbo Gears India.

3. Vehicles, represented by the former Agritalia plant, granted in company leasing 
to Carraro spa and assigned to the production of agricultural tractors.

4. Power Controls, made up by the newly acquired Elettronica Santerno spa.

5.1 Segment reporting
The most significant information for 2006 by segment is shown in the table be-

low, presented on a comparative basis with 2005.

A. Income statement

2006 Drivelines
& Drives 

Components Vehicles Power 
controls

Eliminations and 
non allocated 

activities

Total 
consolidated

SALES 547,138 95,128 81,765 11,426 – 68,274 667,183

Sales to third parties 538,627 35,485 81,645 11,426  667,183

Sales within divisions – – – – – –

Sales between divisions 8,511 59,643 120 – – 68,274 –

OPERATING COSTS 531,319 88,142 75,873 9,550 – 67,745 637,139

Direct/indirect materials 373,889 40,846 58,875 6,413 – 68,360 411,662

Services and use
of third party assets

82,501 25,912 7,152 1,482 616 117,662

Payroll and related costs 61,409 14,956 8,745 1,562 86 86,757

Amortization and depreciation 14,861 6,915 89 83 – 163 21,785

Provisions 4,574 – 1,177 7 – 5,759

Other income and expense – 5,915 – 486 – 164 3 76 – 6,486

OPERATING RESULT 15,819 6,986 5,892 1,876 –529 30,044

Reserve from activities 
undergoing disposal

– – – – – –

The result as of 31 October 2006 of the associated company Stm srl, recorded in 
the consolidated financial statements for a total of Euro 0.55 million, is attributable 
to the “Components” business sector.
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A. Income statement

2005 Drivelines
& Drives

Components Vehicles Power 
controls

Eliminations
And non allocated 

activities

Total 
consolidated

SALES 529,927 80,495 68,634 – – 62,206 616,850

Sales to third parties 519,470 29,786 67,594 – – 616,850

Sales within divisions – – – – – –

Sales between divisions 10,457 50,709 1,040 – – 62,206 –

OPERATING COSTS 512,093 75,276 69,148 – – 61,162 595,355

Direct/indirect materials 362,511 36,942 56,370 – – 65,718 390,105

Services and use of third party 
assets

78,574 19,768 5,703 – – 118 103,927

Payroll and related costs 59,660 13,156 6,414 – – 74 79,156

Amortization and depreciation 14,265 5,378 19 – 618 20,280

Provisions 5,085 168 650 – – 5,903

Other income and expense – 8,002 –136 –8 – 4,130 – 4,015

OPERATING RESULT 17,834 5,219 – 514 – – 1,044 21,495

Reserve from activities 
undergoing disposal

– – – – – –

The result as of 31 October 2005 of the associated company Stm srl, recorded in 
the consolidated financial statements for a total of Euro 0.490 million, is attribut-
able to the “Components” business sector.

B. Balance sheet

2006 Drivelines
& Drives

Components Vehicles Power 
controls

Eliminations and 
non allocated 

activities

Total 
consolidated

Non-current assets * 198,025 66,457 1,743 3,911 – 56,695 213,441

Current assets 280,553 65,278 32,188 13,109 – 66,847 324,281

Non-current liabilities 34,645 16,413 2,217 1,284 62,348 116,907

Current liabilities 314,197 67,302 30,801 12,233 – 122,887 301,647

* Non-Current assets include goodwill for Euro 21,08 million relative to the BU Drivelines & Drives.
 and goodwill for Euro 3.80 million relative to the BU Power Controls.

2005 Drivelines
& Drives

Components Vehicles Power controls Eliminations and 
non allocated 

activities

Total 
consolidated

Non-current assets ** 187,084 53,421 864 – –60,950 180,419

Current assets 406,033 52,309 26,116 – –138,349 346,109

Non-current liabilities 28,932 9,220 2,760 – – 40,912

Current liabilities 421,886 59,981 24,819 – –137,169 369,517

** Non-Current assets include goodwill for Euro 3.00 million relative to the BU Drivelines & Drives.
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As of 31 December 2005, the value of the subsidiary Stm srl posted in consolida-
tion for Euro 3.153 million is attributable to the business segment “Components”.

C. Other information

2006 Drivelines
& Drives

Components Vehicles Power 
controls

Eliminations and 
reclassifications

Total 
consolidated

Capital expenditure 
(Euro ’000s)

19,752 13,355 1,005 3,964 18,952 57,028

Staff 1,875 704 219 59 – 2,857

Reclassifications include goodwill from consolidation entries for Euro 18.079 mil-
lion, attributable to the business segment Drivelines & Drives and Euro 0.911 mil-
lion attributable to the Business Unit Power Controls.

2005 Drivelines
& Drives

Components Vehicles Power controls Eliminations and 
reclassifications

Total 
consolidated

Capital expenditure 
(Euro ’000s)

16,264 17,030 1,064 – – 64 34,294

Staff 1,820 482 222 – – 2,524

5.2 Geographic areas
The Group’s business activities are located in various parts of the world: Italy, oth-

er European countries, North and South America and Asia. Group sales, supplied by 
the production carried out in the afore-mentioned areas, are likewise intended for 
customers located in Europe, Asia and the Americas. The most significant informa-
tion by geographic area, is presented in the tables below.

A. Sales
The breakdown of the sales by main geographic area is shown in the following table.

2006 2005

Italy  119,013  98,765 

Other EU countries  298,979  297,113 

North America  149,921  145,068 

South America  27,341  27,227 

Asia *  48,316  30,917 

Other countries  23,613  17,760 

TOTAL  667,183  616,850 

* Japan, China, Korea, India and Taiwan
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B. Book value of business sectors
The table below shows the book value of the current and non-current activities, 

according to the main geographic areas of production location.

2006 2005

Current assets Non-current assets Current assets Non-current assets

Italy 554,363 431,365 299,097 159,162

Other EU countries (Germany, Poland) 245,844 204,129 125,155 34,828

North America 72,086 64,658 6,025 4,984

South America 22,203 10,380 31,026 21,339

Asia (India, China) 26,755 32,386 23,155 21,056

C. Investments by geographic area
The table indicates the value of the investments in the main geographic areas of 

production location.

2006 2005

Italy 24,932 16,111

Other EU countries 4,934 3,589

North America 0 1

South America 2,497 3,633

Asia * 5,713 11,024

Eliminations and reclassifications 18,952 – 64

TOTAL 57,028 34,294

* China and India 

Reclassifications include goodwill from consolidation entries for Euro 18.079 mil-
lion, attributable to Asian countries and for Euro 0.911 million attributable to Italy.

6. NOTES AND COMMENTS
Revenues and costs

A. Revenues from sales (note 1)
Analysis by business segment and by geographic area
Reference should be made to the information shown under point 4 above.
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B. Operating costs (note 2)

Current year Previous year

1. TOTAL PURCHASES OF GOODS AND MATERIALS

 Raw material purchases 422,251 412,364

 Raw material returns – 5,073 – 3,260

A. Purchases 417,178 409,104

 Miscellaneous consumables 1,123 1,514

 Consumable tools 4,413 4,017

 Maintenance material 2,445 2,261

 Materials and services for resale 2,662 4,266

 Rebates and discounts – suppliers – 459 – 810

B. Other production costs 10,184 11,248

TOTAL PURCHASES OF GOODS AND MATERIALS 427,362 420,352

2. SERVICES

A. External services for production 71,191 65,930

B. Sundry suppliers 7,893 5,890

C. General corporate costs 18,552 18,256

D. Commercial costs 739 713

E. Sales expenses 10,896 10,228

SERVICES 109,271 101,017

3. USE OF THIRD-PARTY GOODS AND SERVICES

Rental expense 3,585 2,836

Royalties 52 73

USE OF THIRD-PARTY GOODS AND SERVICES 3,637 2,909

4. PAYROLL AND RELATED COSTS

A. Wages and salaries 61,698 54,743

B. Social security contributions 19,589 17,900

C. Leaving benefits and pensions 3,328 4,358

D. Other costs 2,142 2,155

PAYROLL AND RELATED COSTS 86,757 79,156

5. TOTAL AMORTIZATION, DEPRECIATION AND WRITEDOWNS

A. Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 19,785 18,204

B. Amortization of intangible fixed assets 1,511 1,890

C. Writedown of fixed assets 250 58

D. Writedown of receivables 239 128

TOTAL AMORTIZATION, DEPRECIATION AND WRITEDOWNS 21,785 20,280

6. TOTAL CHANGE IN INVENTORIES

 Opening inventories of raw and ancillary materials and goods for resale 67,060 53,975

 Changes in the scope of consolidation, translation differences and reclassifications 2,785 522

 Adjustment of writedown allowance 1,021 1,442

 Closing inventories (excluding goods in transit) – 75,754 – 68,220
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Current year Previous year

A. Change in inventories of raw and ancillary materials and goods for resale – 4,888 – 12,281

 Opening inventories of work in progress, semi-finished and finished products 67,912 36,186

 Changes in the scope of consolidation, translation differences and reclassifications – 9,967 3,389

 Adjustment of writedown allowance 1,984 717

 Closing inventories (excluding goods in transit) – 67,469 – 58,258

B. Opening inventories of work in progress, semi-finished and finished products – 7,540 –17,966

TOTAL CHANGE IN INVENTORIES – 12,428 – 30,247

7. TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND SUNDRY

A. Warranty 5,755 5,750

B. Charges For Disputes 0 128

C. Restructuring And Re-organization. 0 0

D. Other Provisions 4 25

TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND SUNDRY 5,759 5,903

8. TOTAL OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE

A. Sundry Income – 6,410 – 5,046

B. Grants – 22 – 15

C. Other Operating Expense 2,613 2,123

D. Other Non-ordinary Operating Income/expense – 407 – 131

TOTAL OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE – 4,226 – 3,069

9. INTERNAL CONSTRUCTION – 778 – 946

The performance of the main cost items pertaining to the business activities (pur-
chases, industrial services, payroll and related costs) follows, disclosing increasing 
figures when compared with 2006, and the rise in production and sales volumes reg-
istered in 2006; in some cases, e.g. purchases, this occurred with greater emphasis 
due to the purveying requirements required by the start-up of new production and 
new manufacturing locations. Overheads included the greater incidence of research 
and development costs. Further analysis is provided in the Directors’ Report.

C. Result of financial activity (note 3)

Current year Previous year

10. INCOME FROM EQUITY INVESTMENTS 0 0

11. OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME

A. From financial assets 20 5,764

B. From bank current and deposit accounts 413 537

C. From other liquid funds 8 0

D. Income other than the above 2,768 213

E. From fair value changes in derivative transactions on rates 0 137

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME 3,209 6,651
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Current year Previous year

12. FINANCIAL COSTS AND EXPENSES 

A. From financial liabilities – 8,400 – 7,929

B. From bank current and deposit accounts – 626 – 2,464

C. Expense other than the above – 833 –5 83

D. From fair value changes in derivative transactions on rates – 410 – 881

TOTAL FINANCIAL COSTS AND EXPENSE – 10,269 – 11,857

13. EXCHANGE LOSSES AND GAINS

Exchange losses

 from derivative transactions on exchange rates – 2,062 – 3,398

 from fair value changes in derivative transactions on exchange rates – 170 – 4,098

 other amounts realized – 3,561 – 2,372

 other from adjustment – 1,418 – 4

– 7,211 – 9,872

Exchange gains

 from derivative transactions on exchange rates 799 2,321

 from fair value changes in derivative transactions on exchange rates 1,746 2,093

 other amounts realized 3,097 3,604

 other from adjustment 676 632

6,318 8,650

TOTAL EXCHANGE GAINS AND LOSSES – 893 – 1,222

14. VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS

 – Equity investments 0 479

 – Non–current financial assets 0 0

 – Current financial assets 0 0

Revaluatons 0 479

 – Equity investments 550 0

 – Non-current financial assets 0 0

 – Current financial assets 0 0

Writedowns 550 0

TOTAL VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS 550 479

The values of net financial charges and revenues increase as consequence of a 
greater average borrowing (which goes from Euro 72.82 million to Euro 131.36 mil-
lion), net financial charges have reached Euro 7.060 million, up as compared to Euro 
5.206 of the previous fiscal year.

Profits and losses on net currency exchange, negative for Euro 893 thousand 
against Euro 1.22 million as of 31 December 2005, are improving, following, among 
other things, the effect of the fair value from derivative instruments, positive for 52 
thousand Euro.
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Taxes on income (note 4)

Current year Previous year

15. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION

Taxation relating to previous years – 133 503

Current taxes 5,694 12,420

Income and charges from tax consolidation 5,469 3,911

Deferred tax liabilities 522 – 22,770

Taxation for the year 11,685 – 6,439

CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION 11,552 – 5,936

Current taxes
Taxes on income for the Italian companies are calculated at 33% for ires and 

4.25% for irap on the respective fiscal year estimated taxable income. The taxes of 
the other foreign companies are calculated in accordance with the rates in force in 
the respective countries.

Income and charges from tax consolidation
During the 2005 accounting period, Carraro spa and Siap spa exercised the option 

to comply with the tax consolidation system of the Parent Company Finaid srl. The 
charges deriving from the transfer of the ires tax base, are booked under current 
taxes. Carraro spa and Siap spa have the right to receive “relief ” from Finaid srl 
equating to 3% of the tax losses of the tax consolidation offset by means of the tax-
able income transferred by them. The charges deriving from the tax consolidation 
system recorded under current taxes are analysed below:

Charges deriving from tax consolidation (33%) of the tax base transferred 5,484

Compensation for use of tax losses of the tax consolidation (3%) – 15

TOTAL 5,469

Deferred tax liabilities
These are provided on the timing differences between the financial statement result 

and the taxable amount. Domestic taxes on income are calculated at a rate of 33% 
for ires (company earnings’ tax) and 4.25% for irap (regional business tax) on the 
estimated taxable income for the year (rates unchanged with respect to 2005). Taxes 
concerning other countries are booked in compliance with the local tax legislation.

The provision for taxation for the year can be reconciled with the result recorded 
in the financial statements, as follows:

31/12/2006 % 31/12/2005 %

Income before taxes 22,641 15,546

Theoretical tax rate 37.25% 8,434 37.25% 5,791 37.25%
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31/12/2006 % 31/12/2005 %

Tax realignment – – – 13,521 – 86.97%

Effect of non-deductible costs 3,146 13.90% 3,346 21.52%

Income not taxable 121 0.53% – 1,610 – 10.36%

Tax losses not recorded – 85 – 0.38% – 1,034 – 6.65%

Other deferred taxes not recorded 479 2.12% 846 5.44%

Tax rate difference - foreign bodies – 543 – 2.40% 245 1.58%

Taxation at effective rate 11,552 51.02% – 5,937 – 38.19%

In addition to the taxes recorded in the income statement for the year, deferred 
tax liabilities for a total of Euro 0.297 million have been charged directly to share-
holders’ equity.

Research and development costs (which cannot be capitalized)
During 2006, studies and trials were carried out, occupying part of the resources 

involved in both the development and manufacturing phases.
With regards to these activities, during 2006 the Group incurred total costs (which 

cannot be capitalized) for Euro 13.897 million.

Group earnings per share (note 5)

EARNINGS 31 Dec 2006
Euro thousand

31 Dec 2005
Euro thousand

Income for the purposes of the calculation of the basic earnings per share 10,534 21,029

Diluting effect deriving from potential ordinary shares 0 0

Income for the purposes of the calculation of the diluted earnings per share 10,534 21,029

NUMBER OF SHARES 31 Dec 2006
Thousand

31 Dec 2005
Thousand

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the calculation
of the basic earnings per share

42,000 42,000

Diluting effect deriving from potential ordinary shares 0 0

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the calculation
of the diluted earnings per share

42,000 42,000

31 Dec 2006
Euro

31 Dec 2005
Euro

Basic earnings per share 0.25 0.50

Diluted earnings per share 0.25 0.50

Dividends paid 
The dividends paid by Carraro spa in 2006 (relating to the distribution of 2005 

net income, as per the general shareholders’ meeting resolution dated 11 May 2006) 
amounted in total to Euro 5.250 million, equating to Euro 0.125 per ordinary share.

The Company has not issued any shares other than the ordinary ones.
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In the previous accounting period, the dividends paid (relating to the distribu-
tion of 2004 net income) amounted in total to Euro 5.250 million, equating to Euro 
0.125 per ordinary share.

Real estate property, plant and machinery (note 6)
This item shows a net balance of Euro 166.74 million, as against Euro 153.40 mil-

lion in the previous year. The balance is analysed as follows:

ITEMS Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other tangible 
fixed assets

Construction in progress 
and advance payments

Totals

Historic cost 50,869 112,451 47,809 8,696 2,636 222,461

Accumulated depreciation – 6,225 – 37,636 – 20,012 – 4,053 – – 67,926

Writedowns – 1,117 – 13 – 9 – – – 1,139

Net value as of 31 Dec 2005 43,527 74,802 27,788 4,643 2,636 153,396

Changes during 2006      

Increases 5,469 13,802 7,300 2,019 2,960 31,550

Decreases – – 326 – 19 – 107 – – 452

Capitalization – 886 280 32 – 1,198 – 

Change in scope of consolidation 2,359 3,581 1,032 265 143 7,380

Amortization and depreciation – 1,610 – 10,872 – 5,954 – 1,089 – – 19,525

Reclassifications 729 286 – 98 – 208 – 1,514 – 805

Writedowns – – 250 – 252 – – – 502

Exchange differences – 1,562 – 1,914 – 652 – 97 – 72 – 4,297

Net value as of 31 Dec 2006 48,912 79,995 29,425 5,458 2,955 166,745

Comprising       

Historical cost 58,866 135,013 57,357 10,823 2,954 265,014

Accumulated depreciation – 8,947 – 54,754 – 27,692 – 5,364 – – 96,757

Writedowns – 1,007 – 263 – 241 – – – 1,512

As of 31 December 2006 there are assets leased (financial leasing) plants for Euro 
0.55 million. Buildings for Euro 3.94 million related to Carraro spa.

The increase recorded under Land and buildings is mainly related to the purchase 
of a land (Euro 2.32 million) and a building (Euro 2.12 million) for industrial use of 
the Carraro spa.

The increases in Plant and machinery essentially concern the investments of Tur-
bo Gears India Ltd., Siap spa, Carraro spa, Fon sa and Carraro Argentina sa. The 
increases in Industrial equipment mainly refer to purchases of dies for casting and 
tooling of Carraro spa, Carraro Argentina sa and Siap spa.

The increases in Construction in progress and advance payments are essentially 
due to the investments being made within Fon sa (Euro 0.52 million), Turbo Gears 
India Ltd. (Euro 1.03 million), in Siap spa (Euro 0.38 million) and in Carraro India 
Ltd (Euro 0.38 million).

Real estate property, plant and machinery belonging to Carraro India is encum-
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bered by mortgages guaranteeing loans outstanding with Medio Credito Centrale 
and BNP for a total of Euro 10.29 million.

Intangible fixed assets (note 7)
This account presents a net balance of Euro 31.33 million, as against Euro 8.35 

million in the previous year. The balance is analysed as follows:

ITEMS Goodwill Development 
costs

copy rights 
and patents

Concessions, 
licenses and 
trademarks

Assets in process 
of formation and 

advances

Other 
intangible 

assets

Totals

Historic cost 4,000 5,016 380 3,457 989 271 14,113

Accumulated depreciation – – 2,127 – 174 – 2,181 – – 187 – 4,669

Writedowns – 1,000 – 90 – – – – – 1,090

Net value as of 31 Dec 2005 3,000 2,799 206 1,276 989 84 8,354

Changes during 2006        

Increases 21,879 1,088 60 879 1,401 172 25,479

Decreases – – – – – – 195 – 195

Capitalization of internal costs – 1,078 – 212 – 1,290 – – 

Change in scope of consolidation   – 3 12  6 15 

Amortization and depreciation  – 721 –96 –664 – –30 – 1,511

Reclassifications – –925 – 40 –60 134 – 811

Writedowns – – – – – – –

Exchange differences – 4 – 1 – –6 – 1

Net value as of 31 Dec 2006 24,879 3,323 167 1,756 1,040 165 31,330

Comprising        

Historical cost 25,879 6,265 438 4,586 1,040 365 38,573

Accumulated depreciation – – 2,851 – 271 – 2,830 – – 200 – 6,152

Writedowns – 1,000 – 91 – – – – – 1,091

Goodwill
This item includes:
› Euro 3.00 million generated by the consolidating entries of the business unit O&K 

Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG company, as the difference between the invest-
ment value and current values of assets and liabilities of the subsidiary company;

› Euro 18.08 million generated by the consolidating entries of the business unit 
Carraro India Ltd., as the difference between the value of the residual share-
holding acquired during 2006 and corresponding portion of the book values of 
the company assets and liabilities;

› Euro 3.80 million referred to the business unit of the Elettronica Santerno spa 
company, made up by Euro 2.89 million for the goodwill fair-value paid during 
acquisition of the company branch of Casalfiumanese spa and Euro 0.91 mil-
lion as the difference between the value of the holding and current values of the 
subsidiary company assets and liabilities (additional information are supplied 
in paragraph 4 – Companies mergers).
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Each of the three mentioned components of the goodwill item is referred to a 
cash-flow generating business unit and has been subjected to a specific “impair-
ment” test. Being business production units in the manufacturing sector, the follow-
ing general application criteria have been applied for such tests:

› the financial-economical projections have been based on the Group triennial 
strategic plan, amended by the internal estimates for the subsequent periods;

› assumption by the plan and amending estimates are supported either by the 
consistency of orders portfolio as well as by the information on major clients 
production programmes, besides the forecasts of the procurement market trend 
and knowledge of the underlying industrial processes dynamics;

› the time frame of reference for the estimate of the future financial flows en-
compasses a period of five years, utilising subsequently the criteria of a perpe-
tuity in line with the flows of the last year detailed forecasts;

› the rate of growth assumed for the subsequent time frame periods of detailed 
estimates is equal to zero;

› the pre-taxes rate of discount, which reflect the borrowing cost in each country 
as well as the “spread” of premium for investment in risk capital, applied to the 
projection of flows are respectively:
– Carraro India Ltd. = 15.4%
– O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG = 11.5%
– Elettronica Santerno spa = 11.9%

Development costs
The main increases were due to Development costs incurred by the companies 

Carraro spa and Fon sa, concerning the design and planning of new product lines 
developed in connection with similar projects launched by the customers. Other 
studies concerning products are still in the design stage and are recorded under as-
sets in process of formation.

Development costs generated internally are capitalized at cost.

Concessions, licenses and trademarks
The increase refers mainly to the purchase of new designing software for Car-

raro spa.

Real estate property investments (note 8)
This account presents a net balance of Euro 0.7 million, as against Euro 0.7 mil-

lion in the previous year.
The balance is analysed as follows:



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

93

ITEMS Land Buildings Totals

Value as of 31 Dec 2005 – 703 703

Changes during 2006    

Increases – 10 10

Decreases – – –

Amortization and depreciation – – –

Currency rate variation – – 1 – 1

Value as of 31 Dec 2006 – 712 712

Property investments refer to non-industrial buildings owned by Carraro spa and 
Siap spa and Carraro Argentina sa.

The fair value of these investments does not differ greatly to the recorded cost, 
taking into account the fact that at the time of initial application of the ifrs, they 
were recorded at fair value as “deemed cost”.

Equity investments in subsidiary, associated and parent companies (nota 9)
Changes in equity investments during 2006:

ITEMS Value as of
31 Dec 2005

Increases/
Decreases

Write-up/
Write-down

Change in scope 
of consolidation

Exchange 
adjustment

Value as of 31 
Dec 2006

Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. 188 – – – – 16 172

Subsidiary companies 188 – – – – 16 172

Stm Srl 3,153 – 426 – 3,579 – –

Elcon Srl 12 – – – – 12

Associated companies 3,165 – 426 – 3,579 – 12

Parent companies – – – – – –

Total equity investments 3,353 – 426 – 3,579 – 16 184

In reference to the handling of Stm srl shares, the increase for Euro 0.426 mil-
lion refers to the revaluation through the net equity method of the results of the first 
months of financial year 2006; following the acquisition on 6 November 2006 of 
two additional shares, the company has been subsequently consolidated through 
the line-by-line method.

Equity investments in subsidiary companies
The balance of Euro 0.17 million is analyzed as follows:

Investee company Parent company Registered offices Currency Net assets 
31 Dec 2006 (Euro)

Interest holding Book 
value

Carraro PNH 
Components India Ltd.

Carraro India Ltd. Bombay (India) INR 194 99.998% 172

Carraro Korea Ltd. Carraro 
International Sa

Ulsan (Korea) KW 10 100% 0
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Equity investments in associated companies
These are analyzed as follows

Investee company Investee company Registered offices Currency Net assets 
31 Dec 2006 (Euro)

Interest 
holding

Book 
value

Elcon Elettronica Srl Carraro Spa Trieste (Ts) Euro 83,150 24.9% 12,450

The table below shows the main figures of the subsidiary company Elcon Elet-
tronica srl (the figures are shown according to the Italian accounting standards):

ELCON SRL 31 Dec 2006 31 Dec 2005

Balance sheet

Total assets 783 716

Total liabilities 704 649

Net total 79 67

Portion attributable to the Group 24.90% 20 17

Income statement

Net sales 869 388

Net income 12 4

Portion attributable to the Group 24.90% 3 1

Financial Assets (note 10)

Opening balance Change in scope 
of consolidation

Change Closing balance

Non-current financial assets

Loans and receivables

Due to third parties 216 – – 116  100 

216 – – 116  100 

Other financial assets

At current value – – – – 

Held until maturity – – – – 

Available for sale 141 2  9  152 

Cash flow hedge derivates (irs on loan) 117 –  596  713 

258  2  605  865 

Financial accruals and deferrals

Due to third parties 1 –  87  88 

1 –  87  88 

Current financial assets

Loans and receivables

Due to associated companies 471 – 387 –  84 

Due to third parties – –  15  15 

471 – 387  15  99 
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Opening balance Change in scope 
of consolidation

Change Closing balance

Other financial assets

At current value (derivatives on exchange rates) 402 – 182  220 

At current value (derivatives on interest rates) 896 – 896 – 

Held until maturity – – – 

Available for sale 73 –  73 

Cash flow hedge derivates 
(der.On currency exch)

–  644  644 

1,371  – 434  937 

Financial accruals and deferrals
Due to third parties 3,978 – 3,185  793 

3,978  – 3,185  793 

Non-current loans and receivables:
› Due from third parties (Euro 0.100 million): these are represented by the irpef 

advance on employee leaving indemnities of Carraro spa and Siap spa; and 
deposits related to Carraro North America.

Current loans and receivables:
› Due from associated companies (Euro 0.084 million): these are represented by 

loans granted from Carraro spa to Elcon srl.

Other non-current financial assets
› Available for sale (Euro 0.152 million): these include minority interests and 

therefore they do not have a pre-established payment date;
› Cash flow hedge derivatives (Euro 0.713 million): the amount refers to the fair 

value as of 31 December 2006 of five irs agreements entered into by Carraro In-
ternational against a pool loan negotiated by the same, to be disbursed in 2006.

Other current financial assets
› At current value (Euro 0.220 million): the balance refers to the positive fair 

value disclosed as of 31 December 2005 relating to derivative instruments on 
current exchange rates.

› Available for sale (Euro 0.07 million): these include Treasury Credit Certificates 
(cct) held by Carraro spa.

› Cash flow hedge derivatives (Euro 0.644 million): The balance refers to the 
positive fair value reported as of 31 December 2006 on derivative instruments 
outstanding on currency. As more fully described in the section relating to the 
derivative financial instruments (section 8), the approach adopted is that of the 
fair value booked to net equity.
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Trade and other receivables (note 12)

Opening balance Change in scope 
of consolidation

 Change  Closing 
balance 

Trade receivables and other non-current payables

Trade receivables – – – – 

Other receivables – – – 

Due to related parties 2 –  2 

Due to third parties 1,441 1 – 101  1,341 

1,443 1 – 101  1,343 

Trade receivables and other current payables

Trade receivables

Due to associated companies 282 – – 204 78

Due to related parties 411 – – 239 172

Due to third parties 135,709 2,651 – 418 137,942

136,402 2,651 – 861 138,192

Other receivables

Due to parent companies – – 28 28

Due to third parties 32,297 1,336 3,696 37,329

32,297 1,336 3,724 37,357

Other non-current receivables (Euro 1.34 million) mainly include guarantee de-
posits and prepaid costs pertaining to subsequent years.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and have an average maturity of 90 days.
Other receivables due from third parties are analyzed as follows:

Opening balance Change in scope of 
consolidation

Change Closing balance

VAT credits 14,110 409 832 15,351

VAT credit due for rebate 7,622 0 5,996 13,618

Other amounts due from the tax authorities 1,388 0 – 910 478

Credits for current taxes 936 753 – 565 1,124

Amounts due from factoring companies 5,132 0 – 5,132 0

Amounts due from employees 332 0 – 201 131

Amounts due from social security
and welfare institutions

126 6 – 42 90

accrued expenses and deferred income 1,952 23 – 351 1,624

Other loans 699 145 4,069 4,913

32,297 1,336 3,696 37,329

Analysis of the gross and net value of the receivables is as follows:
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Opening provision Closing provision

Trade receivables due from third parties 138,522 141,291

Credit risk fund –2,813 –3,349

Net balance 135,709 137,942

Other receivables due from subsidiary companies 1,292 1,292

–1,292 –1,292

0 0

Other receivables due from third parties 33,780 37,505

Depreciation fund –1,483 –176

32,297 37,329

Inventories (note 13)

ITEMS Closing
31 Dec 2005

Closing 
31 Dec 2006

Writedown reserve 
as of 31 Dec 2005

Writedown reserve 
as of 31 Dec 2006

Net value as of 
31 Dec 2005

Net value as of 
31 Dec 2006

Raw materials 67,060 75,754 – 5,927 – 6,948 61,133 68,806

Work in progress and 
semi-finished products

29,452 34,493 – 517 – 1,303 28,935 33,190

Finished products 28,460 32,976 – 3,044 – 4,242 25,416 28,734

Total 57,912 67,469 – 3,561 – 5,545 54,351 61,924

Goods in transit 352 188 0 0 352 188

Total inventories 125,324 143,411 – 9,488 – 12,493 115,836 130,918

Inventories present a balance of Euro 130.92 million, compared with Euro 115.84 
million as of 31 December 2005.

The increase reported in 2006 was the result of the significant rise in orders and 
production volumes and the consequent need to fit the stock and of the consolidated 
incorporation of Stm srl (Euro 5.49 million as of 31 December 2006) along with 
Elettronica Santerno spa (Euro 4.53 million as of 31 December 2006).

The writedown reserve amounting to Euro 12.49 million includes: raw, subsidiary 
and consumable materials for Euro 6.95 million, semi-finished products for Euro 
1.30 million and finished products for Euro 4.24 million. The net balances recorded 
in the financial statements do not differ appreciably from a valuation carried out at 
current costs at year end.

The total provision made during the year to the allowance amounts to Euro 3.86 
million. During the period, Euro 0.76 million was utilized for disposals and the 
scrapping of assets no longer usable, the exchange rate adjustment presents a nega-
tive balance of Euro 0.09 million.
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Cash and cash equivalents (note 14)

Opening balance Change Closing balance

Cash 259 – 175 84

Current accounts and bank deposits 55,494 – 39,649 15,845

Other liquid funds or equivalent assets 1 55 56

Total 55,754 – 39,769 15,985

Short-term bank deposits are remunerated at floating rates.

Shareholders’ equity (note 15)
Share capital

AUTHORIZED SHARES: 31 Dec 2006 31 Dec 2005

42 million ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.52 each 21,840 21,840

Shares issued and fully paid-in

At the start of the year 21,840 21,840

Share capital increases 0 0

At the end of the year 21,840 21,840

The Company has issued a sole category of ordinary shares which do not assign a 
fixed dividend. No other financial instruments have been issued which assign equity 
and investment rights.

No share capital increases were carried out during the year.

Other reserves
Share premium reserve

Share premium reserve

As of 1 January 2006 17,833,456

Share capital increase 0

Other changes during the year 0

As of 31 December 2006 17,833,456

There were no changes in the Share Premium Reserve during the year.

Net income reserves
These includes the portions of the results not distributed or carried forward.
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Reserve for ias/ifrs First Time Adoption (fta)
The reserve for ias/ifrs fta as of 31 December 2006 is totalling Euro 44.384 

million.

Other ias/ifrs reserves
These includes the balances consequent to the application of the standard provided 

for cash flow hedges.

Reserve from translation difference
This reserve is used to register the exchange differences deriving from the transla-

tion of the financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries.

Financial liabilities (note 16)

 Opening balance Consolidation area Change Closing balance 

Non-current financial liabilities 

Bonds  –  –  –  – 

Loans 

Due to third parties  12,022  307  73,208  85,537 

 12,022  307  73,208  85,537 

Financial accruals  –  –  –  – 

Other financial liabilities  –  –  –  – 

Current financial liabilities 

Bonds  74,889  – – 74,889  – 

Loans 

Due to third parties  46,462  1,815  14,312  62,589 

 45,462  1,815  14,312  62,589 

Financial accruals and deferrals 

Due to third parties  6,377  – – 6,104  273 

 6,377  – – 6,104  273 

Other financial liabilities 

Fair value derivatives on interest rates  –  –  38  38 

Fair value derivatives on exchange rates  2,021  – – 1,618  403 

 2,021  – – 1,580  441 
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Non-current loans from third parties
The analysis is shown in the following table:

Company Lender Balance *
(Eur/Ml)

Maturity Interest rate Rate type Currency

Carraro Spa San Paolo IMI (F.I.T.) 1.36 06/2011 1.01% fixed Euro

Carraro Spa Mps Leasing 2.06 02/2011 Euribor 3m + spread 0.55 floating Euro

Siap Spa B.Pop.Verona 2.32 03/2009 Euribor 3m + 1% floating Euro

Siap Spa Interbanca 0.49 03/2008 Euribor 3m + 0.75% floating Euro

Stm Srl Banca Antonveneta 0.31 10/2007 Euribor 6m + spread 1.00 floating Euro

Stm Srl Banca Pop. Verona 3.00 12/2010 Euribor 3m + spread 0.90 floating Euro

Stm Srl Mps Leasing 0.52 11/2011 Euribor 3m + spread 0.80 floating Euro

Elettronica 
Santerno Spa

SIMEST 0.29 11/2011 1.4% fixed Euro

Fon Sa Pekao Bank 2.07 04/2011 Wibor 1m + 0.75% floating PLN

Fon Sa Fortis Bank 2.05 11/2011 Wibor 1m + 0.55 floating PLN

Fon Sa Capitalia Lux 7.02 09/2011 Wibor 3m + 0.80 floating PLN

Carraro India Ltd. MedioCredito 
Centrale

2.24 04/2010 Euribor 6m + 2.25% floating Euro

Carraro India Ltd. MCC 1.93 04/2011 Eurobor 6m + 1.60 floating Euro

Turbo Gears Ltd. BNP 3.26 11/2011 8.58% fixed RUPEE

Turbo Gears Ltd. MCC 2.60 12/2014 Euribor 6m + 1.25 + 
comm. not used 0.30 p.c.

floating Euro

Carraro 
International Sa

Pool Banche ** 80.00 05/2012 Euribor 6m + 0.80 floating Euro

Carraro
Argentina Sa

BNL Leasing 0.04 05/2009 12.00% floating Argentine 
Peso

* It includes short-term quota allocations recorded within current loans
** Pool Banche: Banca Antonveneta, B. Popolare di Verona, Mediobanca, Mediocredito Centrale, Cassa di Risparmio Pd e Ro.

On 29 May 2006, its natural expiry date, the residual portion of the bond issued 
by Carraro International sa on 29 May 2001, amounting to Euro 74.89 million, was 
reimbursed. 

On the same day, a loan from a pool of banks was granted to Carraro Internation-
al sa for a total of Euro 80 million, having already been raised in 2005 with a group 
of leading banks; the duration of the loan is from 2006 through 2012.

In reference to the “Club Deal” financing, the “covenants” originally set and sub-
ject to periodical verifications have been updated by effect of implementing the 
ias/ifrs standards by the Carraro International sa; on 13 December 2006 the 
new financial parameters have been notified to the pool bank agent by Carraro 
International sa.

On 26 January 2007 the bank has notified the approval by the majority of the 
financing banks; the balance sheet figures as of 31 December 2006, reflect such new 
parameters.
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31 Dec 2006 31 Dec 2005

Net financial position

Bonds

– not current  –  – 

– current  –  74,367 

Loans

– not current  85,537  11,277 

– current  62,589  47,232 

non–current financial accruals and deferrals – 88  1,586 

current financial accruals and deferrals – 521 –

Net of

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash – 84 – 121

Current accounts and bank deposits – 15,901 – 55,495

Loans and receivables – 99 – 471

Securities – 73 – 73

Other financial receivables – – 5,483

Net financial position 131,361 72,819 

Of which financial debts / credits

– not current  85,449  12,863 

– current  45,912  59,956 

Net financial position 131,361 72,819 

Current Financings
The Group has available total bank short term credit lines for 182.2 million Euro. 

These credit lines are revocable and may be utilised both for current accounts over-
drafts and short term financings of 12 months maximum duration; its balance totals 
Euro 62.59 million.

Interest rate conditions vary according to each country and can be summarized 
as follows:

› Europe (excluding Poland) = Euribor + 0.40%
› Poland = Wibor + 0.70%
› India = (inr) 11%

Other current financial liabilities 
The balance refers to the negative fair value posted as of 31 December 2006 on the 

existing derivative instruments on currencies (Euro 0.40 million) and on the rate of 
interests (Euro 0.04 million). As more fully described in the section relating to the 
derivative financial instruments (section 8), the approach adopted is that of the fair 
value booked to the income statement.
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Trade and other payables (note 17)

Opening balance Consolidation area Change Closing balance

Trade and other payables non current

Trade payables –  –  –  – 

Other payables

due to third parties –  –  1.759  1.759 

–  –  1.759  1.759 

Trade and other payables payables

Trade payables

due to associated companies  2.960 – – 2.775  185 

due to related parties  16.576  – – 13.856  2.720 

due to third parties  186.019  4.945  8.107  199.071 

 205.555  4.945 – 8.524  201.976 

Other payables

due to parent companies  1.831  –  3.470  5.301 

due to third parties  18.147 680  2.838  21.665 

 19.978 680  6.308  26.966 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and settled on average within 90 days. 
Other payables due to parent companies are represented by payables due by Carraro 
spa and Siap spa to Finaid srl for tax consolidation charges.

Other payables due to third parties are analyzed as follows:

Opening balance Consolidation 
area

Change Closing balance

VAT payables 18 0 604 622

Amounts due to social security
and welfare institutions

4.506 36 – 702 3.840

Amounts due to employees 6.643 237 3.668 10.548

Accrued amounts due to employees 2.764 162 – 2.114 812

Irpef (personal income tax) deducted at source 
(employees and professionals)

2.136 54 113 2.303

Board of Directors 568 188 74 830

Other payables 1.512 3 1.196 2.711

18.147 680 2.838 21.665
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities (note 11)
The table below illustrates the composition of deferred taxation by nature of the 

timing differences which produce it. The change corresponds with the effect of the 
deferred taxation on net equity.

DESCRIPTION OF DIFFERENCES Opening
balance

31/12/2005

Reclassifi-
cations

Change in 
consolida-

tion area

Economic effect For
differences

Closing 
balance

31/12/2006to income to equity

Assets

depreciation of tangible fixed assets 1,331 0 0 792 0 – 65 2,058

amortization of goodwill 1,389 0 0 – 298 0 0 1,091

writedowns of equity investments 1,308 0 0 – 1,146 0 0 162

valuation of receivables – 236 0 0 – 179 0 0 – 415

valuation of financial assets/liabilities 545 0 0 – 545 – 45 0 – 45

adjustment of leaving indemnities/
pensions

217 0 0 –127 0 0 90

provisions for risks and contingencies 4,912 0 0 935 0 – 6 5,841

tax losses 1,954 0 0 135 0 0 2,089

other 1,275 0 80 – 97 0 – 55 1,203

TOTAL ASSETS 12,695 0 80 – 530 – 45 – 126 12,074

Liabilities

depreciation of tangible fixed assets – 3,638 0 – 459 – 85 0 407 – 3,775

writedowns of equity investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

valuation of receivables 0 0 – 12 115 0 – 5 98

valuation of financial assets/liabilities – 230 0 0 212 – 252 1 – 269

adjustment of leaving indemnities/
pensions

– 28 0 – 26 – 15 0 0 – 69

provisions for risks and contingencies 0 0 0 – 168 0 8 – 160

other – 1 0 52 – 51 0 0 0

TOTAL LIABILITIES – 3,897 0 – 445 8 – 252 411 – 4,175

TOTAL BALANCE 8,798 0 – 365 – 522 – 297 285 7,899

The accumulated tax losses for which the related deferred benefit has not been 
recorded, concern:

› the Carraro International sa for Euro 5.10 million with open ended maturity 
date, generated mainly from shares depreciations for which tax deductibility is 
possible based on future appreciations or capital gains from transfers;

› A.E. srl for Euro 0.84 million with open ended maturity date, due to losses 
from operations for which it’s highly unlike to achieve future taxable incomes 
to recover them; 

› O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH and Carraro Deutschland GmbH for Euro 2.74 
million with open ended maturity date.
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Amounts due for current taxes (note 18)

31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2006

Amount due for current taxes 2,418 3,184

Amount due for tax assessment (Carraro Spa) 807 0

Amount due for substitute tax (Italian Law No. 266/2005) 5,909 0

9,134 3,184

Employee leaving indemnity/pensions (employee benefits) (note 19)

Opening 
balance

Change in consoli-
dation area

Increases Decreases Currency 
exchange

Closing 
balance

Blue-collar workers 11,076 710 2,186 – 1,948 3 12,027

White-collars and executives 5,961 148 1,393 – 363 – 3 7,136

Ermination indemnities 17,037 858 3,579 – 2,311 0 19,163

Pension funds and similar 5,374 0 166 – 676 8 4,872

TOTAL 22,411 858 3,745 – 2,987 8 24,035

The severance indemnity refers to employees benefits governed by the current 
Italian laws and posted on the balance sheet of the Italian Companies; such liabili-
ties have been calculated according to the actuarial standard “projected unit credit 
method” with the support of data issued by istat, inps and ania.

Pension funds and similar refer to liabilities posted on the balance sheet of the 
O&K Antriebstechnik company; the actuarial recalculation, except the structural 
differences of the relative plans, follows the same criteria as described in the Italian 
Severance Indemnity funds.

The parameters used are as follows:
› annual rate of interest: 4% – 4.60%
› annual rate of effective increase in remuneration: 3% – 3.5%
› annual inflation index: 1.5%
› pension adaptation index: 1.5%
The accounting treatment of employee benefits recorded in the financial state-

ments complies with standard ias 19 for fixed benefit plans; the change in the liabil-
ity noted between the end of the period and the previous one is booked in full to the 
income statement and classified under payroll and related costs.

Starting 1 January 2007, the Financial Law and relative implementing decrees 
have introduced important changes in the Severance Indemnity discipline, among 
which the choice by the employees regarding allocation of their own maturing Sev-
erance Indemnity. In particular, the new Severance Indemnity allocations can be al-
located by the employee in chosen forms of retirement plans or kept in the company 
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(in the latter case the company has to pay the Severance Indemnity contributions in 
a treasury account held by the inps). Currently the state of interpretative uncertain-
ty about the above cited recently issued law, the potential different interpretation of 
the qualification according to ias 19 regarding the maturing Severance Indemnity 
and consequent modifications on the actuarial calculations regarding the matured 
Severance Indemnity, as well as the impossibility of estimating the choices attrib-
uted to the employees on the allocation of the maturing Severance Indemnity (for 
which each individual employee has time until next 30 June) make premature any 
assumption of modification of the actuarial calculation of the Severance Indemnity 
matured as of 31 December 2006.

Staff
The number of employees shown below relates solely to the companies consoli-

dated on a line-by-line basis and is broken down by category:

CATEGORY 31 Dec 2005 Changes 31 Dec 2006

Executives 37 6 43

White-collar workers 599 113 712

Blue-collar workers 1,872 160 2,032

Temporary workers 16 54 70

Total 2,524 333 2,857

Provisions for risks and charges (note 20)
This item includes:

Opening 
balance

Increases Decreases Reclassifications Change in 
consolidation area

Exchange rate 
adjustments

Closing 
balance

Non current portion

1) Warranty 2,037 4 – 1,095 946

2) Charges pertaining to disputes 405 – 12 22 10 – 37 388

3) Restructuring and re-organization – –

4) Other provisions 140 4 – 85 13 – 5 67

TOTAL 2,582 8 – 97 – 1,060 10 – 42 1,401

Current portion

1) Warranty 5,100 5,751 – 5,694 1,095 – 34 6,218

2) Charges pertaining to disputes – –

3) Restructuring and re-organization – –

4) Other provisions – –

TOTAL 5,100 5,751 – 5,694 1,095 –34 6,218

The product warranty reserve was utilized for Euro 5.69 million for amounts 
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granted to customers and was increased by Euro 5.76 million in relation to the an-
ticipated warranty costs to be incurred in relation to sales made. 

The item Charges pertaining to disputes includes a provision of Euro 0.24 million 
for a dispute with the staff on the Carraro Argentina sa payroll. Reclassifications 
regard, besides the reversal among the guaranty funds, also the reclassification of 
Euro 0.35 million due to the acquisition of Elettronica Santerno spa.

The item Other Allocations includes amounts posted in each individual company 
against future charges and liabilities.

With reference to Carraro spa, shareholders’ are informed that the dispute out-
standing with inps, the social security institution, started in 1996 for the alleged 
omission to pay contributions, was closed on 5 October 1999 by the Padua lower 
court magistrate in favour of the Company. inps have appealed against this deci-
sion. On 19 December 2004, the Supreme Court has sustained the petition filed by 
Carraro spa and referred to the Court of Appeal of Venice (next hearing is set for 
17 June 2008). Based on the current available information, the assessments on the 
groundlessness of the claims submitted by the Welfare Agency have not changed, 
and based on opinions by our legal office, we don’t believe that the risk profile about 
the question in the subject has changed.

7. COMMITMENTS AND RISKS
Amounts payable for financial leases

 Current year  Previous year 

Amounts payable for financial leases:

due within 12 months 478  – 

due beyond 12 months 1,996  – 

2,474  – 

Leased assets were not redeemed during the accounting period. During the year 
new contracts have been signed by Stm srl (for the purchase of a new plant) and by 
Carraro spa (for the purchase of an industrial property).

 The residual debt does not have a maturity date exceeding 5 years.

Guarantees given and commitments

 Current year  Previous year 

Risks  -  - 

Commitments for operating leases 1,778 4,275
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Operating lease instalments
These refer to the rental contract for the business segment stipulated on 24 March 

2005, with a duration of three years subsequently extendable year by year. The les-
sor is Agritalia spa (related party) and the annual fee (Euro 1.422 million) has been 
determined on the basis of an independent appraisal. Following the purchase of a 
leasing contract on the industrial property from Agritalia spa, the annual fee has 
been renegotiated from Euro 1.90 million to 1.422 million. The contract also en-
visages the possibility of exercising an option for the purchase of the company at a 
price which can be determined. Taking into account the provisions of ias 17, it is not 
believed that the contract has the nature of a financial lease. The commitments for 
instalments still to be paid as of 31 December 2006, have maturity dates within 12 
months for a total of Euro 1.422 million and beyond 12 months but within 5 years 
for a total of Euro 0.356 million.

Transactions with related parties
The Carraro Group is directly controlled by Finaid srl, which as of 31 December  

2006 held 50.001% of the shares in circulation. 
The transactions between Carraro spa and its subsidiary companies, which are 

related parties of Carraro spa, have been eliminated in the consolidated financial 
statements and are not commented on in these notes. The details of the transactions 
between the Carraro Group and other related parties are indicated below.

During the accounting period 2005, Carraro spa and Siap spa exercised the option 
to comply with the tax consolidation system of the Parent Company Finaid srl. The 
income and charges deriving from the transfer of the taxable base for ires purposes, 
are recorded under current taxes. According to the regulations of the Tax Consolida-
tion Agreement, Carraro spa and Siap spa have the right to a compensation for the 
use of tax losses of the subsidiary companies by Finaid. This compensation amounts 
to 3% of the tax loss offset with the taxable amounts of Carraro spa and Siap spa.

Further information on the related parties is shown further on in section 8.

Fair Value 
When an essential coincidence between the book value and the fair value of the 

financial assets and liabilities does not exist, steps are taken to include a comparison 
between the various values.

At the end of the 2006 accounting period, it was not possible to detect significant 
differences between the book value and the fair value for the financial assets and 
liabilities which had not already been recorded at fair value in accordance with the 
standards indicated previously. 
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8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
8.1 Derivative financial instruments on currencies
The tables indicate the notional and the fair values referring to the various types 

of derivative contracts on foreign currency outstanding as of 31 December 2006, 
pertaining to the various Group companies.

A. Notional values 

CONTRACT Carraro Spa C. Argentina O&KA Fon Carraro 
India

Turbo Gears Group total

Options 1

Option Put 946 21,331 22,276

Options Call 1,891 21,331 23,222

Options 2

Option Put 1,899 1,899

Options Call 1,899 1,899

SUB-TOTAL 
OF OPTIONS

2,837 46,460 - 49,297

Swap (DCS) 1 7,591 7,609 2,683 14,830 18,675 6,555 57,943

Swap (DCS) 2 2,658 1,980 881 5,519

 1 Instruments raised to hedge sales budget in foreign currency
 2 Instruments raised to hedge the imbalance of current receivables and payables in foreign currency

B. Reference currencies and contract maturities

CONTRACT Carraro Spa C. Argentina O&KA Fon Carraro India Turbo Gears

Options 1 Reference 
currency

Eur / US$ Ars / US$
Ars / Euro

Pln / Eur

Maturities Mar / Apr 2007 Jan / Dec 2007

Jan / Dec 2007

Options 2 Reference 
currency

Ars / US$

Maturities Feb / Mar 2007

Swap 
(DCS) 1

Reference 
currency

Eur / US$ Ars / US$
Ars / Euro

Eur / Cad
Eur / US$

Pln / Eur
Pln / US$

Inr / Eur
Inr / US$

Inr / Eur

Maturities Jan / Oct
2007

Jan / Dec
2007

Jan / Jun
2007

Jan / Dec
2007

Jan / Dec
2007

Jan / Dec
2007

Jun / Dec
2007

Jan / Oct
2007

Jan / Dec
2007

Swap 
(DCS) 2

Reference 
currency

Ars / US$ Pln / Eur Inr / Eur

Maturities Jan / Feb
2007

Jan / Feb
2007

Apr / Oct
2007

 1 Instruments raised to hedge sales budget in foreign currency
 2 Instruments raised to hedge the imbalance of current receivables and payables in foreign currency
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C. Fair value

CONTRACT Carraro Spa C. Argentina O&KA Fon Carraro India Turbo Gears Group total

Options 1

Option Put 40 166 206

Options Call – 4 – 315 – 319

Options 2

Option Put 2 2

Options Call – 19 – 19

SUB-TOTAL 
OF OPTIONS

36 – 166 – – 130

Swap (DCS) 1 212 45 71 145 78 –34 517

Swap (DCS) 2 17 19 2 38

 1 Instruments raised to hedge sales budget in foreign currency
 2 Instruments raised to hedge the imbalance of current receivables and payables in foreign currency

The fair values as of 31 December 2006 of the financial instruments on exchange 
rates are calculated thanks to the support of a leading financial appraisal firm with 
the aid of the following financial models:

› Synthetic forward agreements: forward exchange rate method;
› Swaps: Black-Scholes-Merton formula

The source for the foreign currency exchange rates is provided by the ecb for all 
the exchange rates with the Euro and by the emta for the ars/us$ exchange rate. 
The counterparts with whom the contracts are stipulated are leading national and 
international banking institutions.

The financial instruments on currency are used, on a consistent basis with the 
financial risk management policy adopted by the Company, to hedge the risks deriv-
ing from exchange rate fluctuations and concern the sales volumes compared with 
the budget exchange rate and the collections and payments of short and medium-
term receivables and payables with respect to the historic value.

For the purpose of accounting positing of the hedge contracts of sales budgets in 
foreign currencies effective as of the date of the closing of the period, it is to be noted 
the following: 

a. operations activated until 31 December 2005 and Leveraged Hedge Instru-
ments effective as of December 2006.

 Given the operating method adopted, according to which the contracts are usually 
activated with a timescale which ranges between 2 and 12 months and what is more 
for amounts which hedge a multitude of individual transactions, these instruments, 
without prejudice to the essential hedging objectives of the Group, are handled 
solely for accounting purposes and in accordance with the ias/ifrs as speculative, 
with registration of the changes in their fair value in the income statement.
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b. other operations activated starting 1 January 2006
 For some contracts, especially those referred to as Domestic Currency Swap 

and, whereby applicable, all other conditions provided by ias/ifrs standards, 
the hedge accounting with reference to the types of “Cash Flow hedges” has 
been applied. As consequence the relative changes of fair values are reflected in 
a net equity reserve less the tax effect.

The summary of the fair values posted as of 31 December 2006 less the tax effects 
according to accounting handling is the following:

 Carraro Spa C. Argentina O&KA Fon Carraro 
India

Turbo Gears Group
Total

Fair Value stated in 
Income Statement

– 53 143 – 7 42 – 62 – 14 49

Fair Value stated under 
shareholders’ equity

301 – 246 78 122 142 – 20 377

TOTAL 248 – 103 71 164 80 – 34 426

As a whole, on the period income statement weigh the net changes of fair values 
from derivatives on currencies for Euro 0.16 million.

8.2 Derivative financial instruments on interest rates
The tables indicate the notional and the fair values and other information refer-

ring to the various types of derivative contracts on interest rates outstanding as 
of 31 December 2006; as of that date, the contracts open concerned just Carraro 
International sa.

CONTRACT Currency Maturity Notion value (Euro) Fair value (Euro)

Interest Rate Swap Euro May 29th, 2012 8,000,000 146,004

Interest Rate Swap Euro May 29th, 2012 8,000,000 227,032

Interest Rate Swap Euro May 29th, 2012 8,000,000 230,109

Interest Rate Swap Euro May 29th, 2012 8,000,000 53,694

Interest Rate Swap Euro May 29th, 2012 8,000,000 56,243

Total cash flow hedge 
derivatives

40,000,000 713,082

The financial instruments on interest rates are utilised, consistent with the policy 
of financial risk management implemented by the Group, to reduce the risk generated 
by changes in rates with impact either on the underlying assets and liabilities as well 
as on the cash flows generated by the collection and payment of interests.

The derivatives portfolio as of 31 December 2006 is represented by 5 irs contracts 
stipulated against a financing by a pool of banks issued in favour of Carraro Interna-
tional sa on 29 May 2006; such contract have been handled accounting wise as cash 
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flows hedges, and as such with their posting at their fair values as of 31 December 
2006 in a specific net equity reserve, after deducting the tax effect, being there the 
requirements for the amount covered, due date and expected effectiveness.

The fair values as of 31 December 2006 of the financial instruments on interest 
rates have been calculated thanks to the support of a leading financial appraisal firm 
based on the method of forward rates / discounted cash flow model.

9. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE YEAR END DATE
There were no significant subsequent events worthy of mention, which would have 

had any effect on the financial statements and related information.

10. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The following statements present information relating to transactions with re-

lated parties in accordance with the ias 24 standard.

Equity investments held by Directors, Statutory Auditors
and General Managers and their immediate families

Name and surname Investee company 
Carraro Spa

No. of shares held
as of 31 Dec 2005

No. of shares 
purchased

No. of 
shares sold

No. of shares held
as of 31 Dec 2006

Mario Carraro Directly held 1,679,650 – – 1,679,650

Held via Finaid Srl 21,000,005 – – 21,000,005

Francesco Carraro Directly held 1,182,395 – – 1,182,395

Carraro Valentina Directly held 223,600 – – 223,600

Chiara Alessandri Directly held 20,000 – – 20,000

Onofrio Tonin Directly held 2,500 – 700 1,800
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REMUNERATION PAID 
TO THE ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT AND AUDITING BODIES
(ias 24, Consob resolution dem/2064231 as of 30 September 2002)

INDIVIDUAL DESCRIPTION OF OFFICE REMUNERATION
Name and surname Company Office covered Length of office Year 2006

Mario Carraro Carraro Spa Chairman of the 
Board of Directors

3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 875.0

Siap Spa as above 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 27.4.06) 30.0

Stm Srl as above 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 27.4.06) 20.0

Carlo Borsari Carraro Spa Managing Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) empl. rem. 
364.0

directors’ fee 
350.0

Siap Spa Managing Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 27.4.06) 60.0

Elettronica 
Santerno Spa

Managing Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 30.6.06) 0.0

Francesco Carraro Carraro Spa Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 50.0

Enrico Carraro Carraro Spa Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 85.0

Siap Spa Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 27.4.06) 0.0

Elettronica 
Santerno Spa

Chairman of the 
Board of Directors

3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 30.6.06) 10.0

A.E. Srl as above 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 27.4.06) 0.0

Tomaso Carraro Carraro Spa Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 240.0

Siap Spa Managing Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 27.4.06) 20.0

Onofrio Tonin Carraro Spa Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 100.0

Giorgio Brunetti Carraro Spa Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 70.0

Sergio Erede Carraro Spa Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 60.0

Antonio Cortellazzo Carraro Spa Director 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 70.0

Roberto Saccomani Carraro Spa Chairman of the 
Board of Statutory 
Auditors

3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 24.0

Francesco Secchieri Carraro Spa Statutory Auditor 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 16.0

Siap Spa Statutory Auditor 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 27.4.06) 15.0

Stm Srl Statutory Auditor 3-year period 05-07 (shareholders’ meeting 29.4.06) 6.0

Elettronica 
Santerno Spa

Statutory Auditor 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 30.6.06) 1.2

A.E. Srl 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 27.4.06) 4.5

Federico Meo Carraro Spa Statutory Auditor 3-year period 06-08 (shareholders’ meeting 11.5.06) 16.0

Other Information on related parties Consob resolution 10310 as of 12 November 
1996 encl. 3C Issuer Regulations).

During the 2006 accounting period, fees were paid for professional services to the 
following individuals, associated with the members of the corporate bodies:

(in €/1,000s)

› Studio Bonelli, Erede, Pappalardo = 301
› Studio Mocellini = 203
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CARRARO GROUP SPA’S REPORTS WITH RELATED PARTIES AS OF 31/12/2006

Financial and equity transactions 1 Economic transactions 2
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Associated companies

Stm Srl 3 – – – 816 106 8

Elcon Elettronica Srl 84 78 185

Other related parties

Finaid Srl 28 5,301

Agritalia Spa 118 504 12

Maus Spa 40 26 52

Meccanica del Piave Spa 1,979

European Power System Srl 4 211 4

Mgt Srl 11 2

Economic transactions 2
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Associated companies

Stm Srl 3 138 7,273 56 13

Elcon Elettronica Srl 2 620 10

Other related parties

Finaid Srl 15

Agritalia Spa 5,094 1,628 109

Maus Spa 4 25

Meccanica del Piave Spa 815 17 2

European Power System Srl 136 7 28

Mgt Srl 32

Notes

1. Financial transactions. Financial transactions refer to short and 
long-term loans. 

2. Economic transactions. The most significant economic transactions 
represent trade transactions for the purchase and sale of raw materials, 
semi-finished products, componentry technology for the production 
of systems for auto-traction; the purchases of services refer mainly to 
services for industrial processing. Purchases from Maus spa relate to 
the supply of specific machine tools and the related spare parts and 
accessories.
The main sales of services include amounts charged for the utilization 
of central information systems and the organizational support provided 

by the Parent Company in the various operating areas. Commission and 
royalties refer to specific agreements concerning sales representation 
and the transfer of rights to use industrial “know-how”. Interest income 
is generated by outstanding loans.
Income from the tax consolidation system refers to the “relief” benefi-
ting Carraro Spa and Siap Spa on the use of the tax losses deriving from 
compliance with the tax consolidation system of Finaid Srl.

3. Change in scope of consolidation (Stm)
On 8 November 2006, Siap spa purchased two shares in Stm Srl. The 
company, assessed through the net equity criteria until 31 October 2006, 
is consolidated through the line-by-line consolidation starting from 1 
November 2006 (see paragraph 2.2), therefore, the business relations 
are considered as associated/subsidy relations until 31 October.
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Board of Statutory Auditors’ Report
on the Consolidated Financial Statements

To the Shareholders,
in execution of our duties, with reference to the 

consolidated Financial Statements of Carraro Group 
as at 31 December 2006, we confirm the following:

- For what regards the supervising activity per-
formed during the financial year 2006, refe-
rence has to be made to the report on Carraro 
spa Financial Statements;

- We have acknowledged and controlled, accor-
ding to the scope of our engagement, the ade-
quacy of the organizational structure of the 
company and the observance of proper admi-
nistration, by means of direct controls, infor-
mation gathering from financial management 
and periodical meetings with the Independent 
Auditors and with the Statutory Auditors of the 
Italian subsidiaries, in order to share relevant 
data and information;

- We received within due legal terms, consolida-
ted accounts and related Report on Operations 
by the Board of Directors;

- We checked the compliance with rules and 
principles for consolidated Financial State-
ments and Report on Operations drawing up; 
we took note of the report of the Independent 
Auditors Reconta Ernst & Young spa on conso-
lidated Financial Statements of Carraro Group, 
disclosing a clean opinion without particular 
highlights.

The said consolidated Financial Statements have 
been prepared in compliance with the internatio-
nal accounting principles ias/ifrs, endorsed by 
International Accounting Standard Board (iasb) 
and according to what stated by Italian law (D.Lgs. 
38/2005) in application of European Parliament 

regulation no. 1606/2002 and Council regulations 
19 July 2002.

We reviewed the criteria adopted in consolidated 
Financial Statements drawing up process, with spe-
cial reference to the consolidation area and to con-
sistency in application of accounting principles. The 
controls performed enabled us to assure the com-
pliance of adopted procedures with current laws in 
force.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments of Carraro Group as of and for the year ended 
31 December 2006, give a true and fair view of the 
financial and equity position of the Carraro Group, 
and the results of its operations, for the year then 
ended according to the above mentioned rules is-
sued for consolidated Financial Statements.

We deem also that the Report on Operations is 
fair and consistent with the consolidated Financial 
Statement.

Campodarsego, 27 April 2007

THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS
Federico Meo
Roberto Saccomani
Francesco Secchieri
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Independent Auditors’ Report *
pursuant to Art. 156 of Decree No. 58/1998

To the Shareholders of Carraro spa.

1. We have audited the consolidated financial 
statements of Carraro spa and its subsidiaries (the 
Carraro Group) as of and for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2006, comprising the consolidated balance 
sheet, income statement, statement of changes in 
shareholders’ equity, cash flow statement, and the 
related explanatory notes. These consolidated finan-
cial statements are the responsibility of the Com-
pany’s directors. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
auditing standards and procedures recommended 
by Consob (the Italian Stock Exchange Regulatory 
Agency). In accordance with such standards and 
procedures, we planned and performed our audit 
to obtain the information necessary to determine 
whether the consolidated financial statements are 
materially misstated and if such financial state-
ments, taken as a whole, may be relied upon. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the con-
solidated financial statements, as well as assessing 
the appropriateness and correct application of the 
accounting principles and the reasonableness of the 
estimates made by directors. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

For the opinion on the consolidated financial state-
ments of the prior year, which are presented for com-
parative purposes as required by the law, reference 
should be made to our report dated 21 April 2006.

3. In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments of Carraro spa as of and for the year ended 
31 December 2006, comply with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the Eu-
ropean Union and with the regulations in execution 
of article n. 9 of the Law Decree n. 38/2005; there-
fore, they have been prepared clearly in all material 
respects, and give a true and fair view of the financial 
and equity position of the Carraro Group, and the 
results of its operations, changes in the shareholders’ 
equity and the cash flows for the year then ended.

Verona, Italy, 26 April 2007

RECONTA ERNST & YOUNG SPA
Giuseppe Zucchini
(Partner)

* This report has been translated from the original
which was issued in accordance with the Italian legislation.
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Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro Spa
dated 15 May 2007

Chairman: Mario Carraro

Shareholders present: 17 in person or by means 
of proxy representing 57.375% of the share capital 
equating 24.097.602 ordinary shares with voting 
rights.

The ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting approved:
› The financial statement as at 31 December 2006 

and the Report of the Board of Directors;

› The allocation of the net income of Euro 8.470.783 
for its entire amount as follows:
– Euro 5.250.000 to the dividend to be distri-

buted to the Shareholders to the extent of the 
Euro 0.125 per share held;

– Euro 3.220.783 to the extraordinary reserve;

› The remuneration for the Directors for the year 
2007, for a total amount of Euro 450.000, defer-
ring to the Board of Directors the allocation to 
the single Directors;

› The appointment for the certification of the fi-
nancial statements to the independent auditing 
firm PricewaterhouseCoopers spa for the period 
2007-2015.
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Carraro Spa
Campodarsego
Headquarters
Via Olmo, 37
35011 Campodarsego
(Padova), Italy
t +39 049 9219111
f +39 049 9289111
webinfo@carraro.com

www.carraro.com

Carraro Spa
Gorizia Plant
Via Brigata Casale, 70
34170 Gorizia, Italy
t +39 0481 597711
f +39 0481 34055
gorizia@carraro.com

Carraro Spa
Spare Parts Division
Rovigo Plant 
Via A. Grandi, 25
45100 Rovigo, Italy
t +39 0425 365711
f +39 0425 365777
ricambi@carraro.com

Carraro Spa
Agritalia Division
Rovigo Plant 
Via del Lavoro, 1
45100 Rovigo, Italy
t +39 0425 403611
f +39 0425 403655
agritalia@carraro.com

SIAP Spa
Maniago Plant
Via Monfalcone, 4
33085 Maniago
(Pordenone), Italy
t +39 0427 706911
f +39 0427 706935
siap_maniago@carraro.com

SIAP Spa
Poggiofiorito Plant
Contrada Mortella, 64
66030 Poggiofiorito
(Chieti), Italy
t +39 0871 938111
f +39 0871 938719
siap_poggiofiorito@carraro.com

Elettronica Santerno Spa
Via G. di Vittorio, 3
40020 Casalfiumanese
(Bologna), Italy
t +39 0542 668611
f + 39 0542 668600
es@carraro.com

A.E. Srl
Via Provinciale Nord, 45
40050 Castello D’Argile
(Bologna), Italy
t +39 051 6868111
f +39 051 6868154
ae@carraro.com

O&K Antriebstechnik
GmbH & Co. KG
Nierenhofer Str. 10
D- 45525 Hattingen
Germany
t +49 2324 205 01
f +49 2324 205 429
o&k@carraro.com

Fabryka Osi
Napedowych S.A.
Ul. l. Krasickiego 63/71
97-500 Radomsko, Poland
t +48 44 6821 592
f +48 44 6821 597
fon@carraro.com

Carraro
Argentina S.A.
Valentìn Gomez 577
1706 Haedo, Buenos Aires
Argentina
t +54 11 4489 7200
f +54 11 4483 3221
argentina@carraro.com

Carraro
North America Inc.
2118 US 41 Southeast
Calhoun, Georgia
30701 USA
t +1 706 625 2460
f +1 706 625 3321
cna@carraro.com

Carraro India Ltd.
B2/2 MIDC Ind. Area
Ranjangaon, 412210 Pune
India
t +91 2138 232101
t +91 2138 562666
f +91 2138 232136
cil@carraro.com

Turbo Gears
India Pvt. Ltd.
B 2/3 MIDC Ind. Area
Ranjangaon, 412210 Pune
India
t +91 2138561600
f +91 2138 561 631
tgl@carraro.com

Carraro Technologies
India Pvt. Ltd.
Gigaspace, Building Beta 1
Third floor, Office No. 301
Viman Nagar, Pune
India
t +91 20 66216700
f +91 20 66216717
cti@carraro.com

Carraro Qingdao
Drive Systems Co., Ltd.
The West of Kun Lun Shan Road
Qingdao Economic
and Technical
Development Area
266555 Shangdong Province
China
t +86 532 86721991
f +86 532 86721919
qingdao@carraro.com
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Daniel Egnéus

For Daniel Egnéus, born in Sweden 1972, everydaylife and art are 

one inseparable whole, as are the Milano and Rome surroundings, 

his friends and girlfriend and last but not least, his daydreaming 

which constantly find its way into his work. Having spent some years 

in Prague, Stockholm, London, Bologna and Rome he is now based 

in Milano where he collaborates with different clients from all over 

the world such as PepsiCola, Nike, Playboy, MarieClaire, TimeMaga-

zine, PhilipMorris Inc, Young and Rubicam, Graniph Tokyo.

He was chosen by the british association of illustrators “Best 

Illustrator March 2005” for his design and illustrations promoting 

the Pori Jazzfestival featuring names such as Kanye West, Dizzy 

Gillespie and Lauryn Hill.

He is gaining interest from all over the world being represented in 

private collections in Tokyo, Bombay, London and the United States.

Daniel is a member of the London-based group 4WALL, twelve 

contemporary artists organizing shows all over London and he 

is represented worldwide by Thorogood Illustration, London and 

2Agenten, Berlin.

He is the inventor of the style Quotidiano Straordinario.

Carraro Spa
Campodarsego
Headquarters
Via Olmo, 37
35011 Campodarsego
(Padova), Italy
t +39 049 9219111
f +39 049 9289111
webinfo@carraro.com

www.carraro.com

Carraro Spa
Gorizia Plant
Via Brigata Casale, 70
34170 Gorizia, Italy
t +39 0481 597711
f +39 0481 34055
gorizia@carraro.com

Carraro Spa
Spare Parts Division
Rovigo Plant 
Via A. Grandi, 25
45100 Rovigo, Italy
t +39 0425 365711
f +39 0425 365777
ricambi@carraro.com

Carraro Spa
Agritalia Division
Rovigo Plant 
Via del Lavoro, 1
45100 Rovigo, Italy
t +39 0425 403611
f +39 0425 403655
agritalia@carraro.com

SIAP Spa
Maniago Plant
Via Monfalcone, 4
33085 Maniago
(Pordenone), Italy
t +39 0427 706911
f +39 0427 706935
siap_maniago@carraro.com

SIAP Spa
Poggiofiorito Plant
Contrada Mortella, 64
66030 Poggiofiorito
(Chieti), Italy
t +39 0871 938111
f +39 0871 938719
siap_poggiofiorito@carraro.com

Elettronica Santerno Spa
Via G. di Vittorio, 3
40020 Casalfiumanese
(Bologna), Italy
t +39 0542 668611
f + 39 0542 668600
es@carraro.com

A.E. Srl
Via Provinciale Nord, 45
40050 Castello D’Argile
(Bologna), Italy
t +39 051 6868111
f +39 051 6868154
ae@carraro.com

O&K Antriebstechnik
GmbH & Co. KG
Nierenhofer Str. 10
D- 45525 Hattingen
Germany
t +49 2324 205 01
f +49 2324 205 429
o&k@carraro.com

Fabryka Osi
Napedowych S.A.
Ul. l. Krasickiego 63/71
97-500 Radomsko, Poland
t +48 44 6821 592
f +48 44 6821 597
fon@carraro.com

Carraro
Argentina S.A.
Valentìn Gomez 577
1706 Haedo, Buenos Aires
Argentina
t +54 11 4489 7200
f +54 11 4483 3221
argentina@carraro.com

Carraro
North America Inc.
2118 US 41 Southeast
Calhoun, Georgia
30701 USA
t +1 706 625 2460
f +1 706 625 3321
cna@carraro.com

Carraro India Ltd.
B2/2 MIDC Ind. Area
Ranjangaon, 412210 Pune
India
t +91 2138 232101
t +91 2138 562666
f +91 2138 232136
cil@carraro.com

Turbo Gears
India Pvt. Ltd.
B 2/3 MIDC Ind. Area
Ranjangaon, 412210 Pune
India
t +91 2138561600
f +91 2138 561 631
tgl@carraro.com

Carraro Technologies
India Pvt. Ltd.
Gigaspace, Building Beta 1
Third floor, Office No. 301
Viman Nagar, Pune
India
t +91 20 66216700
f +91 20 66216717
cti@carraro.com

Carraro Qingdao
Drive Systems Co., Ltd.
The West of Kun Lun Shan Road
Qingdao Economic
and Technical
Development Area
266555 Shangdong Province
China
t +86 532 86721991
f +86 532 86721919
qingdao@carraro.com
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